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Then it dawned upon me with a certain suddenness that I was different from the others; or like, mayhap, in heart and life and longing, but shut out from their world by a vast veil I had thereafter no desire to tear down that veil, to creep through; I held all beyond it in common contempt, and lived above it in a region of blue sky and great wandering shadows. (p. 38)

 

Within the Veil was he born, said I; and there within shall he live,—a Negro and a Negro’s son. Holding in that little head—ah, bitterly!—the unbowed pride of a hunted race, clinging with that tiny dimpled hand—ah, wearily!—to a hope not hopeless but unhopeful, and seeing with those bright wondering eyes that peer into my soul a land whose freedom is to us a mockery and whose liberty a lie. I saw the shadow of the Veil as it passed over my baby, I saw the cold city towering above the blood-red land. I held my face beside his little cheek, showed him the star-children and the twinkling lights as they began to flash, and stilled with an evensong the unvoiced terror of my life. (p. 160)

 

—FROM THE SOULS OF BLACK FOLK BY W.E.B. DU BOIS
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 EDITORIAL METHOD

The oral histories and most of the photographs in this volume are drawn exclusively from the Behind the Veil: Documenting African American Life in the Jim Crow South Collection housed at Duke University’s Special Collections Library. The editors shaped these published excerpts by listening to the original audiotaped interviews and comparing them with professional transcriptions. The editorial team of Remembering Jim Crow convened on a regular basis to critique each other’s excerpts for accuracy and clarity as well as to review chapter introductions and headnotes. In formulating an editorial method, Remembering Jim Crow borrowed from the editorial methodology presented in Remembering Slavery: African Americans Talk about Their Personal Experiences of Slavery and Emancipation, as well as other published works in oral history.

Our methodology is framed by the need to present the material in a clear form. We chose to omit certain spoken idiosyncrasies such as “uh”, “mmm” and “you know” as well as other repetitive conversational forms of speech that would be distracting to most readers. Any words or phrases added by editors, or any conjectural renderings of semi-intelligible words, appear in brackets. If there is doubt about the conjecture, a question mark follows the word.

Chapters were assigned to members of the editorial team, and all selections and decisions were reviewed and edited collectively Every excerpt adheres as closely as possible to the original spoken version with two important exceptions: First, interview questions are, by and large, omitted from the texts, but at times these questions reappear within brackets, rephrased at the beginning of an excerpt, to provide the context for the speaker’s  response. Informants are indentified in Appendix C. Second, editors have on occasion altered the sequences of some of the interview passages and deleted unnecessary or repetitive sentences and extraneous paragraphs. All of these revisions were intended to clarify and strengthen the narrative and fit the excerpt into the thematic focus of each chapter.






 INTRODUCTION

Looking back from the perspective of the 1990s, the black North Carolinian Charles Jones recalled delivering clothes and toys to sharecroppers at Christmastime during the height of the Jim Crow era. The gifts had been sent by northern churches to be distributed by Jones’s father, a minister, to their less fortunate southern brethren. In order to get access to the sharecroppers, Jones remembered, his father had to secure the permission of the white landlord to enter his plantation. He would shuffle and defer to the white landlord, Jones noted, but “I remember when we left, him looking at me and kind of winking [as if to say] ‘that’s the only way we can get back here.”’

The son later chose a different tack, joining civil rights demonstrators and becoming a leader in the worldwide youth movement. But he also understood the world his father inhabited and how much his father had achieved “by being wise enough to know what to say, how to say it, how to position your body in a submissive position so as not to [alienate the owner].” Reflecting on this experience later, Jones developed a new appreciation for what his father had accomplished. “I began to understand my father’s restraint, my father’s wisdom—because it was more important to accomplish a common object with dignity than to challenge at every stage everything . . . that white males were confronting us with. So we assumed the higher ground, took all the rhetoric that the Christian white church and the Constitution had taught us, and beat the devil out of them with it.”

This vignette, taken from one of the 1,265 interviews compiled by the Behind the Veil Project at the Center for Documentary Studies at Duke University, speaks in myriad ways to the rich, complicated, heroic, and ultimately ambiguous texture of African American lives during the era of segregation. By dint of circumstance and necessity, there had to be role-playing—holding one’s hat, acting the part of servant to the white master. But there was, in addition, transcendence and purposefulness—defining a goal, reaching out to achieve it, using whatever means were available to secure the victory at hand. And there was also a community—churched people in the North ready to stand in solidarity and support, congregants in the South prepared to use the primary institution they controlled and shaped, to deliver on a promise and keep intact a dream. The edited interviews that appear in this volume represent the rich diversity of those experiences.

The paradoxical truths of the Charles Jones story reflect the insights of the original architect of the “Behind the Veil” concept, WE.B. Du Bois. Writing in The Souls of Black Folk, his 1903 classic, Du Bois described what it was like growing up as an elementary school student in Great Barrington, Massachusetts. He was engaged in a youthful ritual, that of exchanging calling cards with his classmates. But suddenly, Du Bois discovered, the world he inhabited was not a shared community. While he gave his card to his white peers, they had no intention of giving their card to him. And at that moment the “veil descended,” separating the two worlds of white and black. Behind the veil, African Americans developed their own life, hidden and estranged from the lives of white people. This, in turn, created the remarkable “two-ness” or “double-consciousness” of African Americans—an American and a Negro, “two warring souls in one dark body,” seeking to “merge his double self into a better and truer self.”

Yet in Du Bois’s brilliant metaphor, the “veil” had multiple meanings. It not only created the separation that produced the suffering, inequality, and oppression of Jim Crow; it also, as in the West African tradition of a child born with a veil-like membrane covering its head, created special spiritual powers and strengths. “Behind the Veil” thus conveys its own dual message—a separate existence suffused with coping with racism and its consequences, and a community of hope and struggle, replenished by the strength of its distinctive values and institutions, striving to find a “better and truer self.”

The Behind the Veil research project at Duke University sought to explore that paradox. It began at the end of the 1980s as an intensive collaborative effort to recover the history of African American life in the segregated South. The idea behind the project emerged from the lessons that many of us had learned as a result of doing research on civil rights and labor history. There, we discovered that however much written sources such as  newspapers, government documents, or manuscript collections of individual leaders might tell us, those sources most often reflected the perspective of powerful, rich, and primarily white male historical participants. Far less present in those written sources were the perspectives of black, working class, or women citizens. Yet civil rights and labor history can only be understood by listening to the voices of those who generated, shaped, and carried forward those movements.

There was only one way to discover those voices: using interviews and oral history to gain access to the experiences and perspectives of ordinary men and women who otherwise would not be represented in the historical record. Clearly, one could not write the history of the southern sit-in movement or the direct-action student movement without talking to the individuals who brought those movements to life. Police reports or government documents represented only one side of the story. As a result, oral history became the pivotal research instrument for recovering and giving visibility to the historical actors who occupied center stage in the story being told.

Largely because oral history proved so indispensable to recent civil rights and labor history scholarship, the question inevitably arose: Why did we not use this valuable tool to recover the historical experience of others whose voices have long been muted or ignored? Nowhere was that need more clear than in seeking to understand the experience of African Americans who lived during the age of Jim Crow. And in no instance was there greater urgency to move forward immediately to recover that experience, lest death take from future historians the vital sources necessary to understand better this critical and neglected period in America’s recent past.

This need was made all the more urgent by the relatively “flat” nature of existing historiography on the age of segregation. Virtually every student of American history understood, from Rayford Logan and others, that this was the “nadir” of recent African American history, a time of severe legal, economic, political, and social oppression, all reinforced by the pervasive threat of extralegal violence, especially lynching. C. Vann Woodward had earlier traced the inauguration of this era with the infamous Compromise of 1877, when Republican politicians sold out the civil and political rights of black Americans by agreeing to remove federal troops stationed in the South to enforce Reconstruction in return for electoral commission votes for the Republican, Rutherford B. Hayes, in the disputed Tilden-Hayes presidential election of 1876. From that point on, the “equal protection” supposedly guaranteed to black citizens under the Fourteenth Amendment disappeared in practice, helping to usher in and legitimize an era of systematic disenfranchisement  that flourished starting in the 1890s with the imposition of Jim Crow segregation statutes that were ultimately sanctioned by the U.S. Supreme Court in the Plessy v. Ferguson case in 1896.

The so-called Jim Crow era was, in fact, a combination of the de facto second-class citizenship and racial separation that emerged in 1877 at the end of Reconstruction, and the de jure arsenal of laws and official regulations that came to fruition in the 1890s. Although to all intents and purposes, blacks in the South during the late 1870s and 1880s had little but white good will to protect them, there remained during these years a tacit recognition that blacks might still benefit from federal (Republican) patronage and exercise certain rights, including the franchise, as long as in local and state politics they accepted the domination of white Democrats and the white upper class.

By the end of the 1880s, however, economic and political insurgency began to rear its head in the South. The Southern Farmers’ Alliance inaugurated a vigorous campaign designed to end the economic exploitation of sharecroppers and tenant farmers by the elite of white plantation owners. The Farmers’ Alliance, soon to become allied on a national level with the Populist Party, promoted the development of farmers’ cooperatives to put an end to the crop lien system where small farmers mortgaged their crops in return for supplies and household goods from merchants (usually the plantation owners) who charged exorbitant sums; the Farmers’ Alliance also urged creation of federally funded agricultural warehouses where farmers could store their crops awaiting an ideal market while receiving government loans, using their crops as collateral; and the same insurgents pushed for a new political system, directly challenging the monopoly of railroads and banks.

More threatening than anything else, however, was the prospect that white farmers and black farmers might ally on the basis of their common class interests and overthrow the political and economic hegemony of the rich white farmers. Tentatively, and then with growing vigor, a movement toward a biracial Populist coalition developed.

It was at this point that the ruling Democrats raised the “bloody flag” of Southern victimization during the Civil War and insisted that all whites band together in the name of racial solidarity to turn back the “mongrelizing” threat of a biracial political movement from the left. In the name of political “reform,” blacks must be denied the vote. To prevent any further danger of race-mixing, segregation must be enforced. Using the race issue as a means of permanently dividing and conquering any possibility of biracial  organizing, the Democrats succeeded in putting into place the system of official Jim Crow statutes that defined southern politics from the end of the nineteenth century all the way through into the 1950s and 1960s. Economically and politically, dominance by a narrow band of well-off white Democrats was guaranteed. Indeed, since almost as many poor whites as poor blacks lost the vote with the new disenfranchisement statutes, there was almost no threat of a challenge to rich white rule.

Despite the excellent work of historians in documenting the emergence of this citadel of oppression, little has been written about the actual experience of black Americans during the age of segregation. One learned about the crusade of WE.B. Du Bois to fight Jim Crow, about the great migration of the World War I period and the terrorizing race riots that followed the armistice in 1918, about the Harlem Renaissance of the 1920s and the achievements of black writers and artists. But there was no larger sense of what occurred in the everyday lives of blacks from the 1890s through the onset of World War II. Instead of being understood as a time of complexity and struggle, the Jim Crow era appeared as a barren wasteland of oppression. It was almost as though the Stanley Elkins model of a “closed system,” with no outlets, that had once been applied to slavery, now had become the prism through which we understood the era of Jim Crow. Oversimplified, static, and without nuance, the historiography of Jim Crow became a tale of total oppression, on the one hand, and passive submission, on the other.

This portrayal was all the more anomalous given the degree to which slavery and Reconstruction historiography had undergone a sea change in the 1970s and 1980s, with a new focus on black agency and institutional development. From John Blassingame’s The Slave Community (1971) to Eugene Genovese’s Roll Jordan Roll (1974) and Herbert Gutman’s The Black Family in Slavery and Freedom (1976), a generation of historians had dismantled simple stereotypes and described far more complex patterns of slave life on plantations and as freedmen and -women after emancipation. Variety, not uniformity, emerged as the watchword, as historians wrote about the multiple ways African Americans created family lives; practiced religion; made their living; and found the means to preserve pride and maintain some forms of self-determination, even in the face of pervasive structures of oppression. The new historiography of slavery and emancipation brought to light the traditions African Americans had preserved from their cultures of origin. New studies explored African American creativity in adapting the restrictions and regulations that black people were forced to live under. Despite severe obstacles, blacks managed to develop their own instruments  of resistance and self-affirmation. What had once been a stark portrait in black and white became, as a result of this scholarship, a tapestry woven of multiple colors, with diverse themes and subthemes, all highlighting the multiple dimensions of the African American experience.

A similar richness of scholarly endeavor emerged in the scholarly rendering of the civil rights era. Initially, historians focused on the heroic national struggle that culminated in the Brown v. Board of Education (1954) repudiation of Plessy, and the charismatic leadership of individuals such as Martin Luther King Jr. But soon there developed a new appreciation of the insurgencies that shaped the civil rights movement on a local level, with a focus on the “organizing tradition” in Mississippi, the precedents for resistance that blossomed into activism in Greensboro, St. Augustine, Tuskegee, and Jackson, and the pivotal—and previously unsung—role of women in shaping movement events, from Ella Baker to Hazel Palmer to Septima Clark to Fannie Lou Hamer.

Above all, what came out of this scholarship was a new appreciation for the importance of understanding the roots of the civil rights era. As one group of graduate students at Duke discovered when they started to study the civil rights movement in North Carolina using the tools of oral history, the beginning date of the movement kept changing. One group came back from a series of interviews with local citizens saying it was 1954 and 1955, with Brown and Montgomery; but soon other groups came back talking about the Freedom Rides of 1947, the emergence of student protest at an all-black high school in the early 1950s, or the founding of the local NAACP branch at a Baptist church in the 1930s. Suddenly the age-old historiographical question of continuity versus change assumed a new and powerful relevance, only this time not regarding such perennial questions as whether the New Deal was a departure or a continuation of Progressivism; now, the question was whether the sit-in movement represented a revolutionary departure from black acquiescence and passivity, or simply a new way of expressing an ongoing tradition of resistance.

This set of inquiries provided a point of entry into re-interrogating the era of Jim Crow and challenging those untreated notions of black acquiescence and passivity. Why not “unpack” the ordinary lived experiences of African Americans in that period in the same way historians had rethought stereotypes of slave life and developed new sources and fresh ways to analyze the diversity of life on the plantation or the complicated origins of civil rights protests?

The Behind the Veil Project thus began with two frames of reference:  first, the belief that, as with the civil rights era, recovering the voices of average citizens provided the best means of exploring the commonalities and differences of the black experience during the Jim Crow period; and second, the conviction that behind the two-dimensional story of oppression and submission there existed a richer, deeper, and more compelling reality which an investigation of the institutions, family and community patterns, spiritual life, and daily living experiences of black Americans in diverse southern communities would reveal. Based on these departure points, the Behind the Veil Project succeeded in raising funds from foundations and from the National Endowment for the Humanities to conduct up to 1,300 interviews with African Americans who lived during the era of Jim Crow. Selecting communities based on different economic, social, and cultural lifestyles (urban/rural, industrial/agricultural, Piedmont/Delta, rice/cotton), the project chose to do in-depth research in 25 communities in 10 different states.

Each summer for three years, 10 graduate students from history programs throughout the country came to Durham for training, then journeyed to three or four different communities where they took up residence for two weeks. Using research lists compiled by project coordinators—lists cultivated through churches, senior citizen centers, and various black voluntary associations—the graduate students immersed themselves in the histories of their selected communities, using the initial lists of sources to generate more names, digging into personal papers, photographic files, and local archives to flesh out information about critical events and people in a community’s history. By the end of each local visit, the researchers had gained some sense of the dynamics of a local community, had ranked the quality of the interviews for transcribing purposes, and had developed a set of insights and scholarly queries that would facilitate the larger, overall team coming to grips with the rich array of sources that had been developed.

Simultaneous with this process, a new generation of historians were producing scholarly studies of the Jim Crow era that paralleled those earlier done for the eras of slavery and civil rights. Books by Leon Litwack, Evelyn Brooks Higginbotham, Glenda Gilmore, John Dittmer, Deborah Gray White, Neil McMillen, Earl Lewis, and Tera Hunter created a richer framework within which to understand the interview data that the Behind the Veil Project had accumulated. Indeed, the oral history materials developed by the Behind the Veil Project ideally complemented and deepened the findings of this new scholarship. What remains most exciting, however, is the way that the voices of these ordinary people illuminate, as if viewing something afresh and for the first time, the compelling story of accommodation  and resistance, love and fear, pride and humiliation that constituted the everyday working lives of black Americans who lived during this era.

What are the lessons that these stories teach us? They are as multiple as the colors of a rainbow perceived at different angles in the sunlight after a storm.

First is an understanding of the dailiness of the terror blacks experienced at the hands of capricious whites—the man who told of his brother being killed in the middle of the night because he had not sufficiently deferred in the presence of a white man, another story of an African American being dragged to his death behind a horse-drawn wagon, or a pregnant wife having her womb slit, with both mother and child killed, because her husband allegedly had offended a white woman. From lynching to being denied the right to be called “Mr.” or “Mrs.,” to having cars or school buses intentionally hit puddles of water to splash black people walking, there was neither escape from, nor redress for, the ubiquitous, arbitrary, and cruel reality of senseless white power.

What makes the stories in this book so revelatory, however, is not the constant reminder of white terror, but the extraordinary resilience of black citizens, who, individually and collectively, found ways to endure, fight back, and occasionally define their own destinies.

The second lesson, therefore, is the capacity of the black community to come to each other’s aid and invent means of sustaining the collective will to survive and perhaps even inch forward. As Booker Federick told one of our interviewers, “we had much more a [a sense of community] then than we do now. [If] you had 15 acres and you wasn’t quite through, we’d just take our hoe and go over there without any questions.” Sometimes community self-help came through pooling resources to build a new office for a health worker or farm agent; at other times in enforcing standards of community behavior when a teacher or principal acted in ways that were harmful. But always, there was the sense that no matter how badly off people might be in their own right, they would come together to help others, as Reverend Jones did on behalf of his own congregation and their northern partners, in the vignette that opened this introduction.

The third lesson is the enduring capacity of families to nurture each other, and especially their children, in the face of a system so dangerous and capricious that there were no rules one could count on for protection. One of the Behind the Veil informants recalled how his father taught him to watch out for whites. “He told us what to expect, how to act, how to stay away from them . . . so we . . . kind of knew what we were supposed to do.”  But even as parents sought to protect their children, they also conveyed a sense of right and wrong, strength and assurance. “When some things really got out of hand,” another woman told us, “[my parents] would sit down and talk to you and tell you, ‘Now this is wrong. But the situation is that your father can’t do anything about this [right now].”’ At the same time, parents instilled pride wherever possible. Notwithstanding Jim Crow rules, one woman recalled, her mother “always told us ... that we were as good as anybody else,” while another man’s parents insisted on the importance of “stand[ing] up for what you believe. Don’t try to take advantage of anybody, but don’t let anybody take advantage of you.” There was always a tightrope to be walked—cautions that would create hypersensitivity to situations of potential danger, but also a sense of being somebody. As one person’s mother told him, “You are my children. You look like you do because of your father and me, and you can do anything you want to do.... Don’t ever be ashamed of how you look because of your color.”

The fourth lesson from these interviews is the way that same tightrope pervaded the world of work. On the one hand, a job could be a source of pride, whether it consisted of planting and harvesting a crop on shares, teaching in a Jim Crow school, laying bricks, being a domestic servant, a seamstress, or on rare occasions, working in a mine or a mill where there was a union. On the other hand, the same job often carried with it daily reminders of the humiliating power that whites held over their black employees. Sharecroppers annually confronted the stinginess of many white landlords. “Those people were watching . . . [to] make sure [we] didn’t get no top price for that cotton,” Booker Federick noted. Teachers held the highest status jobs in the black community, but that did not prevent them from experiencing the cruelty of whites, such as when a woman teacher tried to have a prescription filled, only to have the pharmacist slap her because she had not said “sir” when she thanked him. Women who worked in the homes of whites ran the constant threat of sexual harassment from men in the house, and even skilled bricklayers confronted the desire of some whites to belittle or undermine their achievements. Thus the workplace was a perennially contested ground, potentially a source of pride and accomplishment, but just as often, a site of threat, danger, and unpredictable cruelty.

In such a world, where did African Americans look for hope and a sense of possibility? Education—the fifth lesson from these interviews—offered one answer. If local planters insisted that schools remain open only four to five months so that youngsters could work in the fields, blacks in the community pooled resources and contributed meat, vegetables, and eggs so that  the work of a teacher could continue for an extra month. Teachers, in turn, encouraged students to have higher aspirations. “We were leading the children to be the best persons they could be,” one North Carolina teacher declared, while a Mississippi instructor sought to inspire her students by saying that one of them might be president of the United States within 100 years. In a world where there seemed no safe and predictable outlet for progress, education held out a glimmer of hope that a better day might emerge.

Sustaining that hope were a series of black institutions that provided pivotal support and affirmation within the African American community. The powerful role of these black institutions or “sanctuaries” represents the sixth lesson from the Behind the Veil interviews. The church stood at the center of the community, the place where people shared their pain, their hope, the news of the community, and the life of the spirit. After Charles Jones’s father distributed the clothes and toys he had brought to North Carolina sharecroppers, they gathered together in their church to sing, and, Jones noted, “after the songs, and the spirit and the holding of hands, and the hugging,” people had such hope in their faces. Not only did the church provide a place of worship; it also served as a shelter where political discussions could freely occur, and where a local NAACP might even be organized.

Other institutions also nourished a sense of pride. In a city like Durham, companies like the North Carolina Mutual Insurance Company or the Mechanics and Farmers Bank suggested the achievements possible for black Americans once they were given a chance to succeed. Black schools and colleges did the same, even in the face of poor governmental financing. Women’s and men’s voluntary associations provided the networks for developing social welfare activities and sharing political information. The black Masonic hall in Birmingham, for example, served as the foundation for a unionization effort in that city in the 1930s, while a pinochle club in Tallahassee provided an organizing base for black political campaigns in that city. Creatively, and with ingenious methods of communication and mobilization, the multiple “sanctuaries” of Jim Crow America served as the home bases from which efforts were launched to undermine and eventually topple the structures of segregation.

Which, in turn, leads to the final lesson of these interviews—the extraordinary and multiple ways in which resistance to Jim Crow occurred and was nourished even in the face of brutal, arbitrary, and systemic discrimination. Much of this resistance necessarily took the form of pushing back within the constraints of existing mores. African Americans daily faced the  challenge of adapting the rules and regulations of Jim Crow to their own purposes, sustaining a delicate balance between appearing to comply with prescribed norms, on the one hand, and finding ways to subvert those norms on the other. Clearly, this was a task fraught with difficulty. It would be a mistake to understate the degree to which, in the circumstances, many African Americans complied with the roles prescribed for them, and if for no other reason than preserving their own and their family’s personal safety, failed to resist or challenge the system of Jim Crow. Yet the remarkable reality was the degree to which some black citizens managed to walk the tightrope and engage in subversion even as they appeared to be accepting the racial system of white dominance.

Nothing better illustrates that dynamic than the story told by Henry Hooten of Tuskegee, Alabama, about an annual fishing trip that he and his neighbors took to the Gulf near Mobile. The group had purchased an old bus for the yearly foray, which of course posed the dilemma of where to stop for food and fuel. One year Hooten went to a place where he hoped to get both needs met. “We were always taught never to talk back to the white man, but to tell him what he would like to hear,” Hooten remarked, so as he was in the midst of filling the huge gas tank on the bus, Hooten politely asked the station owner if all the hungry children he had with him could get fed at the station restaurant. “The white man thought you knew less about psychology [than him]. He didn’t think you had enough sense to [get your way].” But Hooten also understood economic realities. And so when the station owner said that feeding the children was not allowed, Hooten politely demurred, responding that, in the circumstances, he would have to stop filling his tank and move on. “Suddenly,” Hooten said, “he’s ready to feed the kids. And put the white customers to work feeding the kids”—an arrangement that continued every year thereafter.

As suggested in Hooten’s story, there often existed an economic dimension to the ability of blacks to push back. When a young female student was treated rudely by a postmaster when she went to pick up the mail for Boggs Academy in Keysville, Georgia, the headmaster indicated that he would take his business elsewhere until the postal official mended his ways. An apology was soon forthcoming. Similarly, when a white insurance man came into the house of Ralph Thompson’s mother to collect a monthly payment and called her “Auntie,” she exploded, declaring, “I’m not your ‘Auntie,”’ and telling him if he wanted her business, he could call her “Mrs. Thompson.”

There were no clashes more volatile or emotion-packed than those involving sexual harassment. One person interviewed by the Behind the Veil  Project proudly recounted how his mother, ironing clothes in the house of her employer, pressed her burning iron into the back of a white salesman when he grabbed her in a sexual advance. Another person remembered an episode when her mother’s employer approached her sexually. In response, her mother declared, “If a black man done that to a white woman, you’d be the first to ... find a limb to hang him to. So if you would hang the black man about doing it, you think I’m going to let you do it to me?”—a retort that evidently deterred similar advances from that point forward.

Occasionally, the protest also took a physical form, or was expressed in terms of forceful retaliation. When one sharecropper was threatened with a whipping by his white employer while working in the fields, he replied, “No sir, somebody’ll die . . . and it’s got to be more than me.” On another job site, a black bricklayer struck a white coworker when the white man knocked off a brick he had just put in place and simultaneously insulted the black man’s wife. In Tuskegee, a local minister, who also worked in a barbershop serving whites, used his position to gather and convey intelligence about the local Klan to his neighbors. When the Klan found out, they descended on the man’s home garbed in their white sheets and called him out. The minister responded by taking out his long gun, shooting out the porch light, and sending the Klan members scurrying to their cars.

Oftentimes, of course, such responses created dire peril for the individuals involved, evoking the community solidarity that provided the ongoing foundation for black resistance and protest. The sharecropper who said “more than one’s going to die” was sheltered by friends until he could escape by dead of night. In Georgia, a black man who struck back when a white assaulted him for allegedly insulting the man’s wife was harbored at the all-black Boggs Academy and taken out of the county under armed guard later on. Such episodes became legendary. “We had a few black men [here],” Booker Federick noted about his experience in rural Alabama, “known as the men that didn’t take anything [from whites]. The white folks would put on like they wasn’t afraid of them, but they were.”

Naturally, with these interviews as with those collected from former slaves during the 1930s WPA project, exaggeration and selective memory may occur. Veterans of the Jim Crow experience understandably point to instances where they or their friends engaged in heroic resistance. Tales of deception and of hoodwinking whites logically shape the narrative of how African Americans dealt with their oppressors. And humor abounds, as in the episode, proudly described by a mother, of how her young children would play “drink and run” when they were in a department store, using the  “white” fountain rather than the “black.” Such stories punctuate the lore of Jim Crow, like variations on a theme, highlighting and dramatizing, with vivid detail, the larger saga being transmitted.

Still, these stories convey a compelling body of evidence that fleshes out, in colorful specificity, the ultimate product of the Behind the Veil venture: the incredible variety, richness, and ingenuity of black Americans’ responses to one of the cruelest, least yielding social and economic systems ever created. With these 1,265 interviews available to future scholars—more than one-quarter of them transcribed—no longer will it be possible for historians to see the Jim Crow era as only a “nadir” of African American history. The “flatness” of a previous historical landscape has given way to hills and valleys full of countless scenes, some of them a tragic confirmation of how little power and space black Americans had during the age of segregation, but others a riveting reminder that blacks still sought control of their destiny, retained agency in their own lives, and helped build—inch by inch—the foundation for a final assault on the fortress of Jim Crow.

Charles Jones learned from his father the importance of keeping one’s “eyes on the prize” and doing what was necessary to carry on to another day. Charles Jones and his father embody the continuity of the struggle that links the era of Jim Crow with the era of the Freedom Movement. That is why Charles Jones and his father—together—were the first blacks to integrate the Rexall Drugstore in downtown Charlotte in 1960, and why these stories, in this book, will help future American students to understand how one generation makes possible the hopes of the next generation.
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 ONE

 BITTER TRUTHS

Jim Crow was not merely about the physical separation of blacks and whites. Nor was segregation strictly about laws, despite historians’ tendency to fix upon such legal landmarks as Plessy v. Ferguson (1896), Brown v. Board of Education (1954), and the Civil Rights Act of 1964. In order to maintain dominance, whites needed more than the statutes and signs that specified “whites” and “blacks” only; they had to assert and reiterate black inferiority with every word and gesture, in every aspect of both public and private life. Noted theologian Howard Thurman dissected the “anatomy” of segregation with chilling precision in his classic 1965 book, The Luminous Darkness. A white supremacist society must not only “array all the forces of legislation and law enforcement,” he wrote; “it must falsify the facts of history, tamper with the insights of religion and religious doctrine, editorialize and slant news and the printed word. On top of that it must keep separate schools, separate churches, separate graveyards, and separate public accommodations—all this in order to freeze the place of the Negro in society and guarantee his basic immobility.” Yet this was “but a partial indication of the high estimate” that the white South placed upon African Americans. “Once again, to state it categorically,” Thurman concludes, “the measure of a man’s estimate of your strength is the kind of weapons he feels that he must use in order to hold you fast in a prescribed place.”

As the interviews in this chapter—and indeed most of the interviews in this volume—suggest, the arsenal of weapons white southerners felt it necessary to use against black southerners was truly prodigious. In firsthand recollections stretching back to the early twentieth century, Behind the Veil informants tell stories of rapes and beatings, of houses burned to the ground  and land stolen, of harrowing escapes in the middle of the night to evade lynch mobs or to avoid the slower, grinding death of perpetual poverty and indebtedness on southern tenant farms. Even informant Arthur Searles’s offhand comment about needing a pass to travel in Baker County, Georgia, is revealing. Passes had been common in the slave South and were used extensively in South Africa during apartheid, but the idea that an American citizen might need one to travel in his own home state in the post-World War II era seems outrageous, and in fact passes were not typical after slavery ended. Yet, Searles had been given one. He had seen the mutilated body of a Baker County lynching victim, and he knew how desperately white southerners wanted not only to keep blacks in a fixed position socially, but also to control their movements. Above all, he, like others of his generation, knew at some level that white control over black bodies and therefore black labor was key to southern agriculture and to the region’s slowly industrializing economy. Thus, whites rarely hesitated to use force against African Americans who threatened to destabilize labor arrangements or who tried to “steal away,” escaping from debt and abuse on tenant farms in much the same way that slaves had escaped from bondage a generation or two earlier. The legacy of whites’ drive for social stability and control includes both the broken bodies of lynching victims and the grim wariness of men and women like Arthur Searles.

While a number of the stories in this chapter are about lynching and other forms of racial violence, informants also tell of moments that were less dramatic but nonetheless humiliating. “You could shop,” Theresa Lyons of Durham, North Carolina, suggests, “but if you walked up and a white person walked up later, they waited on the white person first. I mean, it was just a known that you weren’t going to get waited on. Even when I knew that [something] was it, no matter how bad I wanted it, I wouldn’t buy it. I would leave.”

For African Americans such as Lyons and Searles, life in the Jim Crow South was a process of navigating treacherous waters. Just as any stretch of ocean might offer smooth sailing on any given day, individual white southerners might be friendly and even helpful at times. However, they might also be unaccountably hostile and prejudiced. Thus, blacks had to remain ever vigilant in case storms of white fury should suddenly begin to blow.

Because they had to fight racist people as well as institutions the struggle of blacks against racial oppression was never so impersonal as a seaman’s struggle against the elements. Instead, living Jim Crow meant confronting bitter truths about human nature, including the arbitrary unpredictability of  alleged white “friends” suddenly becoming mortal enemies. Among the most poignant of these realities emerged when African American children came to understand that blacks and whites were different in the eyes of their society. Often, the circumstances that led up to this realization were mundane, but the realization itself could be devastating. Walking to school, going to the store, playing on rural farms and city sidewalks, black children confronted racial differences in the taunts of white children, in the degrading treatment of black adults, and in their own observations of who was better off than whom. Under such circumstances, “you just automatically grow up inferior,” as Charles Gratton of Birmingham, Alabama, laments, “and you had the feeling that white people were better than you.” Yet, parents and other black adults worked hard to counteract such lessons. Employing a variety of child-rearing strategies, they encouraged black youths to maintain their self-respect regardless of white attitudes.

Children’s experiences also varied. Those who lived in or near cities often remember the physical signs of segregation—placards above water fountains, separate platforms at the train station, the often-shifting terrain of racial separation on the street car or bus. In the rural South, children’s memories of learning about racial difference are sometimes more subtle (rural children played together) and sometimes brutally stark (in the countryside, white violence tended to be even less restrained). The stories of boys and girls also differ. Ferdie Walker’s memories of white policemen exposing themselves to her at a Fort Worth bus stop are but one case in point.

Even after age and experience had taught them the roles Jim Crow required them to perform, adult blacks regularly encountered new limitations on their freedom. Every visit to the doctor, every effort to get a job or buy land, much less register to vote, could result in a further restriction, an additional humiliation arbitrarily imposed. African Americans’ efforts to meet even basic needs such as health care could take them into minefields of white recalcitrance, as the testimonies of Milton Quigless and G. K. Butterfield suggest. Henry Hooten found that white southerners’ prejudices went with them even across the Atlantic during World War II. And, in 1958, Walter Cavers uncovered the bitter truth that a seemingly straightforward car accident, for which he was not at fault, could result in terrible consequences.

For many Behind the Veil informants, a deep personal knowledge of American race relations at their worst has resulted in a sense of obligation to pass on an understanding of Jim Crow’s bitter truths to subsequent generations.

 



Woman opening oysters in St. Helena, South Carolina, sometime after World War I. (Courtesy of Earnestine Atkins, Lula Holmes, and Louise Nesbit, St. Helena, South Carolina)
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Chapter One ends with long narratives by Willie Harrell and Ann Pointer, both of whom describe African American life in the plantation South in the pre-World War II era and both of whom clearly feel they have important stories to tell. As these final two excerpts suggest, the history that Behind the Veil informants self-consciously narrate is a history with a purpose. “I’m telling you,” Ann Pointer insists to the young man conducting her 1994 interview, “it sound funny to you because you never have been subject to nothing like this, but that’s what I want to tell you: how horrible it is when everything you do, the [white] man’s got to approve it.”

 RALPH THOMPSON

Young children in every era interrogate the world around them as they come of age. During the years of segregation, African American children, encountering the puzzling realities of Jim Crow, looked to their parents and elders for answers to questions such as: “Why can’t I drink out of the water fountain?” “Why can’t we try on clothes at this store?” Or: “Why do we have to move out of the way when white folks come walking down the street?”

Explaining the laws of segregation and the practices of racial “etiquette”  was a constant and extraordinarily difficult task for African American parents. How could they teach children the rules they had to follow in order to survive without damaging their self-esteem? Ralph Thompson, who grew up on a tenant farm in the Memphis area in the late 1930s and early 1940s, describes his parents’ efforts to explain segregation and racism to him and his siblings.



They talked to us a little bit about that, but as [things] happened. They might respond to things. I can remember the insurance man coming over there one day and called my mother “Auntie.” And she looked at him and said, “Don’t you call me ‘Auntie.’ I’m not your ‘Auntie.”’ I can remember that. His name was Mr. Watson, and this was back in the forties. You could just see little things like that and how they responded, how they would respond to embarrassing things. They tried to keep you away from things that would be embarrassing when they couldn’t fight back. For instance, going in a grocery store or something like that. If we went downtown and they had the colored drinking fountain and white drinking fountain—in looking back, my sister [and I] talk about it now—my mother would always tell us to drink water before we left home. So we didn’t get caught into drinking water out. Little things like that. Things like going in a store and you can’t try the clothes on. When I got up to about 12, 14, 15 years old, and I’d go to Thom McAn to buy shoes, if I had a $20 bill, they would check that $20 bill like it was counterfeit. I couldn’t walk in a Thom McAn shoe store and buy a pair of shoes because they didn’t want to take my money. They would treat me like this is counterfeit, and they’d look at it. I’m serious. You don’t know how that hurt to do that. You go to a store, and you’re standing there and a white person walks up, and they’ll wait on that white person and just make you stand. So my parents kind of kept us away from that and they wouldn’t let us do certain things.

When you look back at it, you can tell why—because they couldn’t defend [us]. So they tried to shield us from it by sending us or taking us in a different direction, and whatever was going on, they tried to keep it away from us, so to speak. My daddy, if it was a white person around talking to him in some kind of business format, he would move away from us or tell us to go play or something. I guess that was to protect us from something that might be said to him that he wasn’t able to defend. If they were talking about planting or settling up or something like that. He very seldom would do anything like that around us. He would go outside or somewhere else.

But just being called a “nigger,” I can’t remember no adult person calling  him one. I remember kids did it, but I don’t remember any adults doing us like that. I can remember at the drugstore, some evenings we would stop in there and get ice cream, and the pharmacist was real nice to us. He could scoop the ice cream up. He’d scoop it up and he could throw it up in the air and catch it with the cone, and that was kind of entertaining. We’d come through there in the afternoon. If we bought ice cream, he’d do that for us. In this particular drugstore he didn’t put any stools at his counter. When you look back I guess he said I’ll treat you as fair as I can and if I don’t put the stools here, I don’t have to worry about nobody sitting down. You get your ice cream. You have to move on. And looking back at it now that’s what it seemed like. I can remember that guy.

 LILLIAN SMITH

A few years older than Ralph Thompson, Lillian Smith grew up in a predominately black neighborhood in Wilmington, North Carolina, in the 1930s. She, too, describes how her elders approached the task of instructing children in the laws and practices of Jim Crow.



The main thing, the theme throughout, was that we’re living in a segregated society. I didn’t understand segregation until I was maybe nine or ten years old, when I was reading and I could see the signs saying “colored” and “white.” You couldn’t drink at a water fountain even though you were shopping in the same store that people of any other nationality were shopping in. We would ask questions about that and [my parents and grandparents] said: “You would get arrested.” So, when that word was used, any time you saw “white” and “colored,” unless you wanted to be arrested and be in jail, you didn’t dare. So that was the dividing line, and that lesson was really laid down solidly when we were, I would say, between seven and nine.

Naturally, you would ask, “Why?” The question would always come back that we were living in a country that had segregated laws, and [we were] called “colored” people at that time. See, the signs said “colored.” You were not looked upon as having full rights that all other citizens should have. We should be treated differently. That was what the sign was. And then, of course, they started talking about slavery. So from about age seven on, they started giving us information about slavery—before I even read about it in a book. Because in our culture, [which] was our racial group, what most of us knew about slavery was handed down from word of mouth, from family  members or friends or neighbors or whatever, and maybe a lot of it never was written. Most of that was black storytelling, but with a message to let you know what to avoid and how to respond and behave. Because, see, the working word there was “behavior.” You have to watch your behavior.

CHARLES GRATTON

Charles Gratton was born in 1932 and grew up in the Norwood neighborhood of Birmingham, Alabama. Asked when he first became aware of segregation, he describes how he was “programmed” in the bitter truths of Jim Crow.



Actually, when I got old enough to know myself, to really know I existed. I mean, I was born into this thing and raised in it. I can remember very close in my mind [times] when my mother would send me to this grocery store that was approximately a mile away, which was the only grocery store in Norwood. She would give me instructions before I’d leave home and tell me, “Son, now you go on up to this store and get this or that for me. If you pass any white people on your way, you get off the sidewalk. Give them the sidewalk. You move over. Don’t challenge white people.” So I was just brought up in that environment.

They also had a park. It was about a block from where I was born and raised and where I lived, and it was known as the white people’s park. They had a tennis court there and nice park trees, and blacks wasn’t allowed in that park. I mean we just couldn’t go there. You know, it’s just one of those things.

Some days I would be sick, and I could hear the schoolchildren playing during their lunch hour down at Norwood Elementary School, which was all white, and that’s what really stuck in my mind. I’d say, “It’s a shame that I have to walk so far to school every day.” When I’d hear those schoolchildren playing, I’d say, “Here I am a block and a half from the elementary school, and I’ve got to walk six or seven miles to school every day.”

Even now, I can almost hear those kids, those white kids down at this elementary school playing, and the noise and laughing and playing, and I’m at home sick basically from the exposure of walking those six and seven miles to school every day. Whether it was raining or not, I had to go. So those are some of the memories that I have of my childhood growing up over at Norwood.

 



Street crossing in Wilson, North Carolina, in the early 1960s. (Courtesy of G. K. Butterfield, Wilson, North Carolina)
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I don’t know if I ever just specifically came out and asked that question [of why things were the way they were], but it was one of those things where you had been programmed all along, ever since you got old enough to know right from wrong. To challenge white people just was the wrong thing to do. You just automatically grow up inferior, and you had the feeling that white people were better than you. It just really wasn’t any question asked then about why. I mean, that was white people things. That was a white people school, and I just didn’t feel that I had any right to go there. It basically never entered my mind.

Most blacks in the South felt that way, until the late fifties and sixties, when Dr. [Martin Luther] King [Jr.] come along with his philosophy, and it started giving black people some hope that the way we were being treated wasn’t right and this thing can change. Just some hope that we were waiting on. Whenever I would hear Dr. King talk, it seemed like he was touching me from the inside. He could touch your feeling from the inside, things that you would want to say but you just didn’t know how, things that were right and wrong but you kept it inside of you because you didn’t know how to express it. So he was really a great leader and a great man, and I think he done a wonderful job in what he done for our people as a whole.

FERDIE WALKER

Ferdie Walker was born in 1928 and grew up in Fort Worth, Texas. She describes a stage in African American children’s growing awareness of Jim Crow, when children encountered racist stereotypes about black men and women’s sexuality. From the days of slavery on, whites justified the sexual exploitation of black women by describing them as lustful “Jezebels” who supposedly wanted the sexual attentions white men forced upon them. Meanwhile, black men’s efforts to advance politically and economically after the Civil War encouraged white southerners to create a new black male character-type to go along with the “Uncle Tom” and “Sambo” of the old plantation: that of the black beast rapist. The rape or attempted rape of a white woman became the standard explanation for why thousands of black men were lynched in the South in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, despite the fact that rape was not even a charge in the vast majority of cases.

Just as lynching persisted into the post–World War II era, degrading sexual stereotypes continued to affect individual black men and women’s lives in myriad ways. In Ferdie Walker’s case, two white police officers clearly felt they could get away with sexually harassing an 11-year-old child simply because she was black. As Walker explains, her terrifying childhood experiences resulted in a lifelong distrust of the police, shaping her own child-rearing practices and her work as a public health nurse in the 1950s.



I tell you this one thing that really sticks in my mind, one really harassing kind of thing that I went through at that time. I was 11 years old, and I will never forget it. I used to go back and forth to church on Sunday afternoons to the United Methodist youth group, and I always rode the bus. You had to stand on the corner, which was about two blocks from my house, to catch the bus. In those days, all police people were white, and all bus drivers were white, and these policemen would harass me as I was standing on this corner waiting for the bus to come. Sometimes the two of them would drive up. The bus stop was up high and the street was down low. They’d drive up under there and then they’d expose themselves while I was standing there, and it just really scared me to death. And the only reason I did not go home at that time was because if I had gone home, my mother would have made me stay. So I just stepped back from the corner, and because I rode that way all the time, the bus driver didn’t [have to] see me standing there at the corner. He’d always stop and I’d get on the bus.

 



Colored and white water fountains in a tobacco warehouse, Lumberton, North Carolina, around 1940. (North Carolina Department of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina)
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But it was these same cops. So I had a morbid fear of policemen all of my life and it has not completely gone away. This was in the broad open daylight with the sun shining. But I will never forget it, and it always comes back to me every time I get into a really tight experience. That was really bad and it was bad for all black girls, you know.

It was really hard for me to tell my children that [policemen] were helping people. It was really hard. I really prayed a lot over that, and I said, “Well, this is something that you got to do.” I had a job as public health nurse at Topeka, Kansas, and we had a lot of child abuse even then and that was in the fifties. My supervisor gave me a situation. She said, “Now when you go to a house and a man is beating his wife, what are you going to do?” I said, “Call the minister.” And she said, “Ferdie, you’re an intelligent person. You know that’s not right.” I told her. She’s a wonderful person. I said, “Alice Jensen, I know that’s not the right answer. I should call the police,  but I don’t believe in the police.” And that was after my third child was born. So it has taken a long time for me to have any kind of trust in policemen as a group even when I tried to say to myself, “It’s one person and everybody is not like everybody else.” But it’s really very difficult for me. That has stayed with me.

STINE GEORGE

When blacks in the Jim Crow South aspired to economic and social equality with whites, their white neighbors often met them with disapproval or even violence. Such was the case when Stine George’s father William bought a piece of coveted real estate at the urging of his white boss, Jesse Morgan, who also helped him negotiate a loan from the Federal Housing Authority (FHA). Morgan believed that William George had earned the right to the land since he had always been a “good nigger. ” Morgan’s sons disagreed, and the George family soon saw their house burned to the ground. Stine George’s younger brother and sister died in the flames.



[Mr. Morgan] said [to my father], “You’ve been a good nigger, so I’ll tell you what I’m going to do. I’m going to sell you this farm.” Dad said, “Sell me a farm, Mr. Morgan? I can’t buy no farm.” He said, “The government will buy it for you. In fact, we already started buying it. You just go over there and talk with Brown”—that was the FHA man—“and he’ll let you sign the papers. I’ve already got them made up. We’re the government.” [Laughter.] That was it. Talk to my daddy, he’ll tell you the same. “We’re the government,” [Morgan] said. “Just go over there and sign the papers.”

That’s what happened. [Morgan] didn’t tell his sons about what he had done. He didn’t want to tell [them] until after my dad signed the papers. [That farm was] on the main road at that time, see, and nothing but white folks [there], and good land on a hill, too. See, black folks would always get in the bottom, but this was on a hill, nice hill land, because that was one of his choice farms. But anyway, them sons had a fit. It was two of them. Boy, they had a fit, and they went over there and they were going to stop it because they said [their] daddy was senile, he didn’t know what he was doing. The people at the FHA office said, “Well, he’s done signed the papers. We can’t withdraw it now.”

So then they came out to the house mad. See, [one of Morgan’s sons]  had a fence put all the way around the farm. In fact, my dad did all the work, but he bought the fence and the posts and everything. It was new wire. It had just been up about a year. So they came out there and told my dad, “That’s our wire.” Said, “You’ve got to take all that wire down and roll it up and give it back to us.” Around that whole farm, see, take up the posts. That’s what they wanted.

My dad said, “Yes sir, I’ll do that.” So my dad went back over there to this Brown man’s place and asked the FHA office. [He] said, “Mr. Morgan’s son came out here and told me I had to take all that wire down from out there and give it to him because it belonged to him.” The man told him, “You don’t have to do that. The wire belongs to you because you done bought the farm.” Said, “But now if you want to get along with them, you might want to take it down.” So that’s what my dad did. He had to take up all that wire up. To get along with him.

See, that’s when black folks were going north because they said the white folks would either come back and lynch you or do anything, burn your house down. That’s another thing. I don’t talk about this too much. They built us this government house to live in. All government houses looked alike. You could always tell a government house because all of them were white, and they all looked alike. All over the South [if] you saw one, you saw more.

Anyway, that was a part of the deal in buying this farm. They put a house out there and that was part of the deal in the farm operation. So we had this house out there, but the white folks resented the fact that we were out there and had this frame house out there. We’re not so sure what happened, but one night, probably about two o‘clock in the morning, my oldest sister started running through the house [yelling], “Hey, daddy, daddy, the house is on fire!” And so the house started burning on the front porch and went all the way around, and when she hollered, we all were asleep. [It was] two o’clock in the morning, and then, of course, my dad ran out and she ran out and my dad thought he could put the fire out.

So then I came out. My baby sister and my baby brother didn’t ever wake up and got burnt up in that fire. That has hurt so much [that] I’ve never been able to talk about that much. I’ve never told but one or two persons in my whole life. We ran out there, and we took water and throwed it in the fire all the way around the house. It was said the white folks gassed our house and caused it to burn down and burn up two children.

[My brother and sister were] about three and four. My sister never waked up; she was still in bed, but the boy got up and got as far as the door  and just didn’t make it out. It was very painful. It was very painful that this happened.

And of course, white folks came over. In fact, my daddy didn’t sleep with his pants on. [Laughter.] Well, a lot of people don’t sleep with clothes on, but that’s why I sleep with clothes on now because he didn’t have any pants on, and he was out there trying to put the fire out because we were in a hurry. My sister, when she came out her hair got burned almost all off. And so a white man that lived across the hill, he brought them some clothes.

They never did anything about it. Nobody ever did anything about it, never tried to find out who did it or anything, but we surmised that the white folks done it. My sister had been ironing that day before. If it had caught from the iron, it would have caught inside the house, not outside. But they said, “Yeah, when did you iron over at that house?” My sister said, “Well, we ironed yesterday, ironed something yesterday afternoon.” “Well, that was what it was, [it] was the clothes! That’s where it caught.” But it didn’t catch inside the house. It caught on the front porch, went around the house, and burned the house up. It went around fast, too, burned the house down.

That’s why we couldn’t go back in and get the others out. But you see, a seven- or eight-year-old child, you couldn’t expect him to go back and get nobody. Well, you know, I’m scared, I’m a nervous wreck. See, we had a bucket trying to draw the water out of the well, and my oldest sister was running, throwing the water on there. Shucks, in a little while that fire was all the way around the house, so that ended that little bit. Like I said, white folks came around and they were talkative, but nobody ever tried to apprehend anybody who committed the crime.

I had to walk 12 miles a day [to and from school], and there’s a wood bridge, and I was kind of afraid to go across that bridge. Of course, my daddy always told me, “Now if you come up that bridge and somebody’s on it, you just go back in the woods and stay in the woods until they leave, and then you come on home or go on to school.” I’ll never forget there were at least two nights that I had to stay in those woods all night long because white folks were fishing up and down the bridge. They never would go back anywhere so I laid over in the woods till they left. I thought they would throw me in the water, you know, throw me in the river, so I just stayed back off the road in the woods, and I slept in the woods at least two nights.

[My daddy] knew, probably, what it was. He loved me. He knew something had happened, but there was no way of getting in touch with me, so instead of going on home, I’d get up and walk on back to school the next  morning. I had no other way to work it. [Laughter.] I got up and went on back to school, and the next evening I’d be able to get home, and they knew what transpired.

It was just some white guys on the bridge messing around at night, but they was there until late. I fell asleep in those woods, and so after twelve o’clock, it wasn’t no point in going home. [Laughter.] So I just stayed in the woods.

I shall never forget this, and this is something nobody ever knew because we don’t tell it. I wouldn’t tell it now because it’s painful, it will be painful to even tell it, but with what you are doing, I’ll tell it. Some Sunday mornings we would get a mule and five or six of us would get the wagon. All of us [were] under ten years old. We’d get the wagon and go up about six miles away to see some of our first cousins. So one Sunday morning, it wasn’t but three of us in the wagon, my sister, my brother and myself, and we were going up to see my uncle Chilton. Like I said, my sister was but nine or ten. Of course, I was driving, and she was sitting in the wagon. So we went by this house where these white guys were out there playing ball. I guess it was eight guys, young white boys probably about 18, 19, 20, something like that.

One of those white guys ran and jumped on the wagon. He said, “I’m going to ride with you, I’m going to ride.” We were going by this house, you see; we knew him, see, and he got on the back of the wagon, and he was riding with us. When we got to the house, he took the mule from me and stopped the mule at the house, took the wagon from me and tied the mule to a tree in the yard. Then he made my sister get out and go in the house with him. He raped my sister. Like I said, she was about nine at that time.

When he took her in the house, my brother and I jumped out the wagon and ran through the woods. We were scared. We didn’t know where to go, and we were scared because, really, we hadn’t been anywhere before. He was about six or seven then. No, he was about four or five years old, and I’m seven or eight. Anyway, he followed me down through them woods and went on down through the woods and briars. We were scared for somebody to see us, and so we finally went on through the woods and tried to get back where we thought our daddy was. See, that house where this guy was, we wouldn’t dare go by there and be seen, so that meant we had to go way around through the woods and then come back around. My dad was within seeing distance from where this guy got on the wagon.

So about the time we got halfway back to Gum Branch, almost back where we could see the house, we heard the wagon going back down that  road, running. See, what he had done, after he raped my sister, he told her to get in the wagon and go home. So she was driving the wagon and she went on home. She went by the house where my dad was, and all them got out, and they couldn’t understand where I was and what happened. They were alarmed. They didn’t know we were down in the woods. We heard that wagon running but the corn was tall. We knew it was her with that wagon, but the corn was tall, and so I was scared and naturally my brother would be [too]. So finally they had her, but they didn’t know where we were. They finally called the sheriff, and of course, he didn’t do nothing. He did arrest this guy. We finally came out of the woods, and then we went back down to the house, and we didn’t have any more trouble out of them, but they never didn’t, never do nothing to that guy for what he did.

CORNELIUS SPEED

Like Stine George’s family, Cornelius Speed’s family found their white neighbors in Florida unwilling to see blacks get ahead economically through landownership. After Speed’s grandfather died, his father tried to reclaim land that had been in the family since the 1880s but that was currently mortgaged to white businessman T. S. Green. Green made sure Speed could not pay off the mortgage and instead sold the land to a white plantation owner. Legal cheating was by no means the only method whites used to dispossess African Americans of their land and agricultural produce.



I knew my grandfather. When I was a little boy, I would go and stay with him. He was a minister. He [also] had a large area of about seven hundred acres. He cut the timbers and built the first church at Rock Hill. The first church he built was a log church. Following that, when they outgrew that church, he then cut timber and hauled it to the mill and had it cut in lumber and built a larger church. He pastored that church until his death. Now, after my grandfather’s death, most of his children, all except two daughters and a son, had given up the farm and moved to either Washington, D.C., or Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. They had moved, and of course their attitude was, “We’re through with the farm. We’re through with the farm.”

Of course, my granddaddy had some indebtedness. He had borrowed some money trying to buy cars and things, like most Negroes did at that time. They had a little and the white people took advantage of you. I can tell you who the mortgager was: T S. Green.

So my daddy tried to pay off [my grandfather’s] mortgage. T. S. Green told him he couldn’t pay it off. So, my daddy then mortgaged what he had to get money to try to pay it off. And he always told me this story. He said, “Son, I had gone to Mr. Green’s office to talk to him about trying to pay the property off and he had given me an appointment.” My father finished [only] fourth grade, incidentally, but he could read and write and figure as well as anybody. He was sitting in Mr. Green’s office waiting because [Green] was talking with another person. He was sitting there by the door waiting, and Mr. Green said “That nigger, Cornelius, [is] out there waiting to worry me. He thinks he’s going to get his daddy’s property, but hell, he’ll never get it as long as I’m alive. He’ll never be able to redeem it as long as I’m alive.” So my daddy was fighting about it, and the news got back to his brothers and sisters who were in Washington that [Green] was trying to take his daddy’s property. I don’t know who spread the propaganda. He had one brother who came home, and if it had not been for one of the people in the community, he probably would have gotten hurt because this brother had come home and told some community people that he was going to kill T. S. Green because he was trying to take all of his daddy’s property. This person, who was a deacon in the church along with my father, came to my father and told him [what his brother was saying].

But it ended up that they didn’t want [daddy] to have the property; they were going to sell it. They sold seven hundred and fifty acres of property for $25 per acre in Leon County, and my daddy didn’t get enough of his portion even to pay off the mortgage he had on his own property. They wouldn’t let him have it, and it was sold for $25 per acre to a white plantation owner.

[There were also] many black people in that community who lost their property through taxes. They didn’t take [news]papers, [where property foreclosures were announced]. I could name 25 or 30 people who lost property for nonpayment of taxes, and they didn’t know it. I don’t know if [the government] advertised it [the impending foreclosure], but they had no way of knowing [even if] they advertised. They didn’t have television. They didn’t have radios. Radios were just beginning, the old phonograph, you know, where you wound it up. They didn’t know. When they knew anything, they were being moved out because of nonpayment. There was a person who bought my aunt’s property, bought 40 acres of her 80, a man whom I’d known all of my life. He bought it, and he was trying to farm it, and he bought, I believe, a 1941 Ford tractor, $750. He borrowed money from T. S. Green to buy the tractor, and he didn’t make enough money to  pay it as he should. Before he knew anything, the sheriff had come there to set all of his things out for a $750 tractor. There were people who would have bought the property [from him], but he was too embarrassed to tell and denied that he owed anything when his things were sitting on the ground [for auction]. That’s the honest to goodness truth.

There was another gentleman named Tom Atkinson who used to run a market on West Gaines Street that sold a little of everything. And this is a fact: Tom Atkinson would go out and pick up some black street walkers [day laborers], you know just hanging around the street. They used to hang out down in that area, and he would get in his truck and ride through the rural community. He did black people a terrible disfavor. He would ride through and the Negroes would be planting watermelons and things, and he would [say], “Oh, I know, this is old John Brown’s field here. I bought them watermelons. Go out there and let’s put a load on the truck.” He’d just go out there and get your watermelons. I understand he used to get people’s cows and butcher them the same way. “I got this cow from old Jim Brown, load him, let’s go.” And he’d go out there and get them and people were afraid to do anything about it.

MERLIN JONES

Merlin Jones spent the first 22 years of his life in Canton, Mississippi, before leaving home to serve in the armed forces during World War II. He describes a flourishing black community life in the Canton of his youth, but also makes it clear that African Americans had to be always on their guard because of the ever-present threat of racial terror. According to Mr. Jones, even disputes over family pets could escalate into fatal confrontations. Meanwhile, Jones’s story of how a neighbor boy escaped Canton after being falsely accused of theft suggests how little had changed since Virginia bondman Henry “Box” Brown gained fame for escaping from slavery by shipping himself north in a packing box almost a hundred years before.



I remember one incident. I was small. There was a widow who lived down the street from me. I told you where the white property ended and the black property started? The lady who lived in the first black house was a widow, Mrs. Cage. She had at home a daughter and three sons. Her oldest son worked for some Jewish people. Someone broke into that house and stole some silverware and jewelry. They accused him of doing it, and I remember  seeing the only mob crowd I’d ever seen in my life. They passed and my parents told me. We could peek out of the windows. Everybody had the lights off; everybody was quiet. There were these people in their cars, and some were walking, and they were using profanity—what they were going to do to him, and this and that. And they went there, and Mrs. Cage was much older than my mother because her oldest daughter was perhaps as old as my mother, so she was a pretty elderly lady They went through her house and turned the beds over looking for him under the beds, and they tore the doors off the closets. They slammed her against the wall, and one of the boys wanted to react, and they beat him up. It wasn’t the son they were looking for, this was the next oldest son.

But what had happened, the son of the man that was accusing him had told him, “Get out of town because my father’s having a mob crowd come after you because he said that you were the one that broke into our house.” They were about the same age. He worked for them as a butler, chauffeur, and this son—I guess the two young men [were] near the same age, and they had a close relationship. No matter what society says, people are just going to be people. He told him, “Get out of town,” and he had left the day before. He didn’t leave by train because they had been watching, even though he didn’t know [it]. They had been watching the railroad stations, the bus stations there, and in Jackson, they were watching the airport. And what had happened, Mr. Mackey, I believe it was, owned a little freight truck. He hauled stuff for people, and hauled stuff from nearby towns, and he had crates on his truck. They carried him to one of the towns 40 or 50 miles away and put him on a train. He was left there in a box just like he was being shipped out, just like he was being shipped to another town by truck, and that’s how he got away.

But, seeing those people, I was too small to understand why my parents were so afraid. I couldn’t have been over seven or eight years old at the time, and all of these cars—I had never seen so many people. They were talking and walking, and cars were bumper to bumper. They were lined up, they were stopped, they were far beyond our house, and I lived about seven houses from [Mrs. Cage’s house], and these cars were bumper to bumper on beyond where I lived. I had never seen anything like that.

I do remember hearing about a lot of that. There was a Mr. Fields that was killed by a lynch mob. You will never guess why he was killed. One of his dogs jumped on this white man’s dog and beat him up. They killed him because he should have been able to control his dogs. They killed him because “my dog beat your dog.”

There was another case in which a [black] man was killed because this [white] woman says that he had tried to have sex with her. But later on I learned that she was the aggressor and he wasn’t. Some of the men who had had sex with her said that if you didn’t, she’d have you killed. One man said he did. He was afraid, but he said if he was going to die, he was going to be guilty. He said it didn’t happen one time, had to happen several times, and he eventually left town because he got scared. And so, it was strange how those people worked, how they lived.

I had an aunt who was the only black person who owned any downtown property. She owned three downtown buildings. [Whites] tried to get her to sell it, she said, a couple of times. They dynamited the front of some of her property, but she still stayed there. She held onto it.

MILTON QUIGLESS

African Americans who needed medical treatment often encountered some of the bitterest of Jim Crow’s truths. There were too few black doctors, and whites often gave health care grudgingly, if at all. Hospitals and other medical facilities were inadequate and far from the farming communities where most blacks lived prior to World War II. They were also segregated, adding humiliation to patients’ distress. Apart from these concerns, few blacks had the means to pay for even the most necessary procedures, especially if they worked as sharecroppers or tenant farmers.

Dr. Milton Quigless was born in 1904 and grew up in Port Gibson, Mississippi. He left Port Gibson as a young man and worked his way through school as a sleeping car porter, eventually serving on trains that ran between St. Louis, the Dakota Badlands, and Seattle. A graduate of Meharry Medical College, Nashville, Tennessee, Dr. Quigless came to Tarboro, North Carolina, in 1936 to begin a medical career that eventually spanned six decades. In this excerpt, he describes the woeful state of medical care for African Americans in rural North Carolina. As he struggled to collect payments from reluctant plantation owners, Dr. Quigless also caught glimpses of the grim exploitation that sustained southern agriculture.



If you got sick out there in the country, if the boss man didn’t agree to pay for your medical care, then you’re on your butt. That’s all. People were having babies and having an infection from it and dying. After I had been there  about a month, I went out to see this lady in the country, and she had a baby and the placenta, the afterbirth, didn’t come down. Two weeks of that. That damn thing got infected, and she had septicemia. She had it so bad she had abscesses in her eyes. I got it out, but it was too late because she died.

Of course, all the landowners around here had sharecroppers. Very few blacks owned their own home farms. One man who had several farms in this area, he had overseers to watch over, you know, manage the farms. One of the overseers called me in the middle of the night and said, “Doc, got a lady out here. One of the tenant’s wives is having a baby, and she’s in trouble. She’s bleeding like everything. Will you go see about her? I’ll see that you get your money.” I went out there, and I saved her. Everybody was enthused about it. So the landowner called me and said, “Just go out and see my tenants and come back at the end of the year. I’ll pay you just the one time every year. In October.” I saw these patients out there, coming in here, out in the woods and everything until October. I had a bill of over $900. I took it to the landowner. He said, “Well, Doc, my son looks after these things. Just take it over there and see him. He’ll take care of you.” But, in the meantime, another white man in town knew I was coming along. In fact, I had bought a house from him. He said, “Doc, I want to tell you something about some of these folks here. I like you, and I’m trying to help you, but everybody’s not in your corner. See, now certain people around here, they’ll have you work on their tenants, and then when you take the bill, they want to try to Jew you down.” He said, “Don’t you let them do it. Don’t you let them intimidate you like that. It’s all right to give them 10 percent but don’t let them go any more than that.” So sure enough, when I took this bill over to this guy, he said, “My son takes care of that.” [I] took it to his son. He said, “Well, Doc, you got a big bill here. It’s over $900.” He said, “Well, you know, we’re giving it in one piece so listen, can’t we sort of knock this down to about $700?” Then it came back to me about what this other man had said. I said, “Look, there it is. Give me any damn thing you want. I don’t give a damn. Just whatever you want to do. If you don’t want to give me nothing, just tell me. I’ll get out of here and won’t bother you anymore.” “Oh no, Doc. It isn’t anything like that.” So he paid me my money less 10 percent.

That’s the way they got everything. They charged the tenants 25 percent for lending them money, and [when they made someone wait for payment for services rendered to tenants] they charged them 10 percent. That’d be 35 percent on every dollar they loaned a tenant. See what I mean? That’s the way they got all these damn farms.

 



Segregated movie theater in Leland, Mississippi, in 1939. (American History Slide Collection, National Museum of American History, Smithsonian Institution)
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Ten days after I opened this hospital here, I had 25 beds, 20 of them were filled. Most people didn’t have any damn money. They were all sharecroppers and whatnot. I remember this lady. She was in labor and her husband ran in one day. Said, “Doc, come out right quick and see about my wife.” She lived about 10 miles out in the country. So I went out there. The lady had had a precipitous labor. That baby just burst out every damn thing. Lacerated the vagina, lower part of the intestines, the uterus. Every damn thing. Blood was just shooting out. Put a sheet up there. Told my receptionist to come out with some ether. She poured the damn ether, and I had to sew on that lady about an hour and a half. Well, she healed all right except for one little place. We got along very well. No blood transfusion. Hell, wasn’t no blood bank or nothing in those days. The Lord just wasn’t ready for her to go. Anyway, she healed all right except for one little place, and I knew about Duke [Hospital], and I heard about the OB/GYN men over there, Obstetrics/Gynecology men. So I wrote this Dr. David R. Carter, the Chief, and told him about what had happened. He said, “Send the patient over here.” So I sent the lady over there. He read the letter again, and he looked at her. He called me and said, “How in the hell did you ever do this in the country? How were you able to do that?” I said, “Nobody else was able to do it. I was here. I had to do it. Or she would  die.” So then he said, “Send her on over here, and if you get any cases like that, just send them on over because we’ll manage it.” He gave me encouragement and he helped me out all the way along. So I just got started from that, and it went on and on.

GEORGE KENNETH BUTTERFIELD JR.

A lawyer and judge, G. K. Butterfield Jr. describes his hometown of Wilson, North Carolina, as a city that did not begin to integrate its public schools until the mid-1960s, despite the Supreme Court’s ruling in Brown v. Board of Education in 1954. Perhaps it is not surprising, then, that Wilson’s health care facilities for African Americans were racist and backward as well.



We had basically two local black physicians. Each was in a solo practice. Their medical resources were limited. If they need[ed] lab work done or an X ray done, they would have to send you to another location to get it done, but they were good men. They worked hard, and they served their patients as best they could. As far as institutional care, there was, up until 1965, a black hospital referred to as Mercy Hospital which was understaffed and underfunded and was just a second-rate hospital. Nevertheless, that was the hospital for black citizens and the only hospital for black citizens. There was no rescue squad. Back then, if you needed to be transported to a hospital in an emergency situation, you would call the funeral home. This applied to both black and white. You would call the local funeral home, and they would send out an ambulance, which also doubled up as their hearse. Of course, black funeral homes would transport black patients, and white funeral homes, white patients. I saw a case one time where a white funeral [home] was called, and [they] got to the scene and found out it was a black patient and turned around and went back. [They] did not render assistance. I remember that quite well. That was in ’63. I was driving for an elderly minister at the time as a chauffeur. I would take [his wife] out daily to the bank and places, and she got out one day and fell, broke her hip. The white funeral home was two blocks away. Someone called the funeral home. The ambulance came down. [They] saw that she was black and turned around and went back.

In ’64 we had a public hospital constructed, and at that hospital, blacks were segregated by room. Blacks in one room. Whites in another. I  found this out doing my research for the voting rights case. HEW, [the Federal Department of] Health, Education, and Welfare, came down and inspected the hospital and found out that it was segregated by race. [They] wrote a letter to the hospital—this is a public record—telling them that they were violating federal law, and if they didn’t correct the problem and admit patients to rooms regardless of race, federal funds would be withdrawn. The hospital called an emergency meeting [of] the board of trustees. There was a colored man on the board of trustees. I don’t even give him the credit as being a “Negro” or “black.” I mean, he was just a person of color who did not represent any of the interests of the black community whatsoever. Hines was his name, William Hines. Mr. Hines was on the board, and at the conclusion of the meeting, the minutes reflect that Mr. Hines made a motion that a telegram be sent to the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare informing them that “[w]e did not segregate on the basis of race, and that if blacks and whites were in separate rooms, it was because they wanted to be there.” The letter went off. Another letter came back from HEW saying, “We received your letter. That’s insufficient. That’s inadequate. You’re still segregated, and we will be cutting off your federal funds in very short order.” [The trustees] called another meeting, voted on it, and finally they were forced to integrate the rooms at the hospital, but the feds had to make a grand stand before that happened. So as a result of that, blacks and whites ended up in the same rooms together in the hospital.

Nash General Hospital over in Nash County got around the problem by building a new hospital with all private rooms. There are no semi-private rooms in Rocky Mount. All rooms are private. People have forgotten it now, but the reason was to get around integration. So health care was terrible.

There were two clinics staffed by white physicians—Carolina General Clinic and Wilson Clinic—and blacks could go to those clinics to see white doctors, but the rules were different. You had to sit in a very, very, very small room bunched up together with very poor ventilation. You couldn’t see out of the room very much. It was maybe a 18” by 18” hole that the nurse, the receptionist, would talk to you through. You were called by your first name. “John, James, come on. Dr. So and So will see you now.” Whereas whites had this spacious, beautiful waiting room with plants and windows and the light.

Black patients would always be the last. The same uncle that was active in voter registration with my father, my mother’s brother, was involved in a tragic car accident in 1949. He was on a bicycle, and a motorist struck him.  He was taken to the black hospital, and my family called a white doctor to come down to see him. The white doctor said, “I will be there.” This was like eleven or twelve o’clock in the morning. The white doctor said, “I’ll come.” Didn’t show up. Several hours later, they called the black doctor, and the black doctor said, “Well, you have called the white doctor first, and I don’t want to offend him.” The black doctor and the patient were fraternity brothers. They were friends. Of course, he may have been upset because he wasn’t called first, you know, but he refused to go and see his friend because the white doctor had been consulted first and [he] didn’t want to hurt his feelings. He refused to see my uncle. So they kept waiting on the white doctor, and several hours later, I mean like eight or ten hours past the accident, he came in and checked him and left. A couple of hours later, he died.

I don’t know if the reason for it was because he had been an agitator in the community for voter registration, and they just didn’t want to give him medical attention. Regardless of whether that was the motive or not, he didn’t receive proper attention, and he died, from internal bleeding, something which today would be very routine. But he died, right in Mercy Hospital back in ’49. So medical care was not really available at the same level that it was to white patients. Most blacks consulted black doctors, and they could not pay black doctors what white doctors were making. So black doctors ended up being providers of free medical care. Most of the patients had high blood pressure and problems that poor people generally have. So black doctors really couldn’t prosper. Even though they were perceived as being rich men, they couldn’t prosper. They made house calls. It was nothing for Dr. [Joseph F.] Cowan, who was one of the doctors, to go around at night from house to house with his little bag and see elderly patients. Couldn’t get paid for it.

HENRY HOOTEN

World War II brought new opportunities for African Americans as they advanced through the military ranks or moved to northern and western cities to work in wartime industrial jobs. Nevertheless, Jim Crow persisted in the military throughout the war years, and racist attitudes accompanied white soldiers as they fought on European, Asian, and African shores. In this excerpt, Henry Hooten of Tuskegee, Alabama, recalls a clash between black troops and a white officer over the issue of black men dancing with white women at a party in Birmingham, England.



When I first was inducted into service, I was up in Michigan. In fact, I was on steamboats when I was called. My cousin was called to go in December. My aunt and uncle wanted me to go along with him so that he’d be comfortable. So I did. I volunteered to go in service with him. We went in at Detroit, and they sent us to Fort Custer, Michigan. When we got to Fort Custer we stayed there for about three weeks and then we parted. He went to the South Pacific, and I went to Europe. I went to England.

Well, I worked up through the ranks. I went in as a private, and soon I became corporal, and then staff sergeant and first sergeant. It was very rewarding. I had been taught to do what you are told to do and never question it. [They] said if you want to be successful in service, that’s the way you would have to do.

It was well segregated. We went one way and the whites went another. Each outfit was equipped with the same equipment and whatnot. After I went overseas, we could see the segregated part. As a black soldier, you had truck drivers and laborers. If you had any education at all you could maybe be a company clerk, or you’d go up in the ranks. But I found that it was much easier to follow orders and stay out of trouble because they would court martial you if you didn’t.

The first trouble I really had was in London. We were getting ready. The English people had invited us to a party one night, and we knew that we were going overseas. We were getting ready for [the] invasion of North Africa at the time, and so the people in London was trying to show their appreciation toward us black servicemen.

So they made up the passes to go to the dance that night, and I put them on [the commanding officer’s] desk. He had signed four or five of them before he read the first one. So he looked and he asked the first sergeant of the outfit, “What are these passes for?

Sergeant Johnson said, “They are passes for the men to go to a party in Birmingham, England.”

He says, “Birmingham, England?”

He said, “Yes.”

My company commander was from Mississippi, and he didn’t want his black boys fraternizing with the white girls in that area. He said, “Well, there ain’t no black girls in Birmingham, England. None of my black boys are going to dance with no white girls.” And so he began to tear the passes up. He tore all of them up.

When he tore them up, the first sergeant tore his stripes off.

He said, “Well sir, I’ve been in this man’s army 27 years, but we’re going to the dance tonight if I have to go to the guard house tomorrow.”

We had about 12 trucks. [We] loaded up the whole outfit and we went to the party. While we was at the party, the company commander sent the military police to arrest all of us. Well, the little guard house wouldn’t hold but say 50 or 60 men. You couldn’t put [the whole outfit] in the guard house. So they arrested us in our quarters. You couldn’t go out of your quarters. You had to stay. [Word of this incident was sent to Washington, D.C. The general sent a brigadier general to investigate the matter. The brigadier general reprimanded the company commander and sent him to Leavenworth federal prison for his role in the incident.]

 THERESA LYONS

Rationing during World War II sometimes meant new restrictions on African Americans’ everyday lives, as Theresa Lyons of Durham, North Carolina, explains.



I remember the principal of the Little River School, because you couldn’t buy meat, and I remember he got beat up real bad by some people, some white people at a store on Roxboro Road. Being a principal, he thought he was somebody, and he stopped in there and asked them if they had any meat. It was just something like fatback or a strip of lean or something like that. They beat him real bad because they said he was out of his place, that they didn’t sell meat to niggers.

And I remember when they wouldn’t sell you a Coke. You could only buy Pepsi. You could buy a Pepsi, but you could not buy Coke. If you’d go in a store and ask for Coke, they would reach in there and give you Pepsi. They only sold Cokes to white folks.

ARTHUR SEARLES

Arthur Searles was born in 1915 in Albany, Georgia, the son of a schoolteacher and a railroad man. His parents were the only home owners in their neighborhood, which was commonly known as “CME” because it centered on a Colored Methodist Episcopal church. Remembering how neighborhood boys guarded their turf and their “little CME girls” when he   was a teenager, Searles is reminded of a much grimmer story: the lynching of a black man by the sheriff of Baker County, Georgia, in the mid-1940s.



 



Lynchings, which were epidemic in the South between 1890 and 1910, often became public spectacles, with entire communities watching and often actively participating. (American History Slide Collection, National Museum of American History, Smithsonian Institution)
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Because of my mama and papa, we were sort of the upper echelon [and] the young men over in CME chose me as their leader. If you wanted to come into CME, especially to see our little CME girls, you had to get a pass from me. We issued passes like the sheriff of Baker County does now. You didn’t know that, did you? The sheriff of Baker County still has to issue you a pass if you want to go and travel freely in Baker County. If he doesn’t issue you one and any of the white folks beat you up, you’re just a beat-up nigger. Even today. Just one step from hell. That’s what Congressman Oscar DePriest said about Baker County. Said he was born in Newton, Georgia, which is just one step from hell. [Laughter.]

They had me come down there on one occasion to take some pictures and to do an article on a ham-and-egg show. Now that’s normally agricultural agents’ big to-do throughout the South, in Georgia and Florida, Alabama and all that. As a matter of fact, the ag agent told me, “Searles, we want you to come down here and take some pictures. We don’t have any money we can pay you but we’ll give you a ham.” I said, “All right. I don’t mind.” I said, “But now, I’ve got to have a letter of introduction or promotion so that when these folks stop me, I can present this letter to them. ”And so the sheriff wrote me a letter that I could pass through and walk around in Baker County. I was under the protection of his office, the sheriff. Of course, I went on down there, but I was scared to death all the while I was there.

One of my personal experiences with them was that a young man named Bobby Hall was lynched by the sheriff of Baker County, Screws, Sheriff Screws. See, there was a whole lot of inbreeding or mixing, and the Hall family looked just like white folks because there was some white people in there. That’s the heritage. So [the] daddy, him and his son, had a beautiful pearl-handled pistol. And this has been validated so I don’t mind putting it on tape. The son [Bobby Hall] would carry the pistol around in his glove compartment, which is legal as long as you’re not exposing it or that sort of thing. You don’t have to have a license. Well, Sheriff Screws told [Bobby Hall], “Let me see what you’ve got in your glove compartment.” He let him see, and [Sheriff Screws] said, “Oh, this is a pretty pearl-handled pistol. I know you must have stole it.” So he said, “No, sir. My daddy gave it to me.” He said, “Well, I’m going to take it on in and look over my list of stolen pistols and see if it has been stolen.” So he took it on away from him. He carried it on away from down there up to the sheriff’s office.

About two months later, [Bobby Hall] came down there and asked him for his pistol. [The sheriff] told him, “You get on away from around here.” He ran on away. So about four months after that, he saw him again and he said, “Sheriff, you know you’ve had plenty of time to see whether that pistol was stolen or not.” Sheriff said to him, “Well, you come on down to the courthouse and we’ll see about it. Don’t come all that early because I’m going to be in and out. But you come down here about six o’clock in the evening, and if I haven’t found anything about it . . . I even forgot about looking it up.” [Bobby Hall] came around there that evening, and that man shot him in the head two times, beat him, [beat] his face bloody, as I put it  in my paper, as a ripe tomato, and tied his body to the back of his truck and drug him around the square.

And they called the funeral home up here. This is how I got into it. O.T Funeral Home. They called them to come get the body. I went over and took pictures of the body and marked the various places on it and everything. The sheriff had killed him, and we reported it to the Georgia Bureau of Investigation and the FBI, and the sheriff brought his car and siren and parked it in front of my place out here. My place was across the street then. [He] turned the siren on and let it go on all evening. I was in there and knew I better not come out there. And, of course, I didn’t go out there, to be honest with you. I don’t want to be a dead brave man. I want to live so I can write again, keep writing.

So I wrote the article about the man, Bobby Hall. I knew his father real well, and Bobby Hall was a nice little fellow Whole family are. And all the sons and the girls’ husbands all work together, and they had one man, the big Hall, Mr. Hall, to get all the cotton together and take it to the cotton gin. Things like that. They were very prosperous, very prosperous. Nobody believed the sheriff would kill them. They were white-looking black folks.

Oh, they freed that man. He was doing his official business, and the uppity Negro came in, and they claim he tried to attack the sheriff, which you know is a lie. No black man is going to attack the sheriff when he’s got pistols and everything. Ain’t too many white folks that would even do that, let alone black folks. So, incidentally, I told you I ain’t no coward, but I ain’t no hero either. I was scared to go down there when they had the funeral. So I sat at my desk over there and I felt like I’d been to many black funerals. So I knew exactly how that black funeral was going to go. I talked with some other people who were there and they told me how it went. How people came in cars, wagons, motorcycles, any way you could get there. The name of the church was Thankful Baptist Church in Baker County, Newton, Georgia. And everybody seemed to be in sympathy with this boy. Most of the people had tears in their eyes and all. It was a sorrowful day.

But as a result of this and the other publicity that I gave out about it, the Ku Klux Klan marched around my house on several occasions. They threw a brick up there with a note on it. It said, “Tend to your own race and tend to your own business or else you’re going to have yourself killed.” Of course, I didn’t print that because I didn’t want anybody to know that they had gone quite that far with it.

WILLIE ANN LUCAS

Born in 1921, Willie Ann Lucas worked as a midwife in rural Arkansas from the 1940s to the early 1970s. Here she responds to the question, “What were race relations like during those days in Phillips County?”



Well, they were all right as long as you didn’t try to attend any of [the whites’] functions or their schools or anything else. You were supposed to be considered a good person if you just tend to your own business and you “Yes, sir” and “No, sir.” But if you tried to attend any of their functions or socialize with them or anything, you might come up killed or anything, whipped, caught and whipped, and this, that, and the other.

I never will forget, my mother farmed on Mr. Clapworthy’s farm down at Marvell. They never gave anybody any trouble, and he would always come down and he’d talk to my mother and grandmama and granddaddy and all. When he died, he left it as, “I want you all to make a room—they had his funeral at his house—for all my black neighbors so they can come to my funeral.” And they did. They had a special little old room there for them to sit, but you had to sit off to yourself. You couldn’t sit in the crowd. You sat off to yourself in that little room, but you could go because he thought a lot of them and he thought they were good people and he wanted them there, and so therefore they could go. But other than that, you just didn’t go.

When we moved here [to Brinkley, Arkansas], it wasn’t integration here. We had two kids, and we had to send [them] clear across town to school, when we had a school right here. You could stand on your porch and talk to [the students] over there on the steps. My son graduated in ’69. He went over there the last two years of high school, to Brinkley High School. We had all kinds of threats that, if we sent our children over there to school, we might as well dig our grave and stuff like that. We had [that] years before they made them integrate. Then they did it two grades at a time, so by the time they got around to my son, he only had two years. He was in eleventh grade. My daughters had already graduated from high school, and they didn’t know anything about integration because they went over here to [a] school which was all black. Now everything seems to be going smoothly.

[But] it was hard at that time because of segregation. Take my husband. [He] went in World War II, and he was a mail clerk. When he got out of service, he came here and he took the exam. They had [an] open exam at the  post office. He went down and he took the exam. Veterans [were] supposed to have had first preference. He made the highest mark of anybody who took the exam, and they didn’t hire him because he was black. The man right across the street worked at the post office, and he spoke up for him, and they got on him, so he lost his mind. Lost his mind. They sent him down [to] Florida somewhere. Staggs, his name was, lived right across the street in the brick house. He’s the one came over here and he wanted to know what did they tell [my husband] about the job because he made the highest score of anybody. Because, see, he did that when he was in the service, and he was a college graduate. So he just knew all about it, but they didn’t give him the job carrying mail.

WALTER M. CAVERS

Born in 1910, twenty miles outside of Selma, Alabama, Walter Cavers felt compelled to leave his family in the late 1930s and “hobo” to Charlotte, North Carolina. When he finally returned some 20 years later, neither his eight siblings nor his father recognized him. The conditions that Cavers was trying to escape were common among rural African Americans in the Jim Crow era: poverty, maltreatment, brutal and often unpaid labor, a lack of educational opportunities, and the constant threat of white violence. Such conditions underlie both Cavers’s account and the two long narratives that conclude this chapter: Willie Harrell’s story of escaping from Mississippi and Ann Pointer’s rich description of growing up poor in rural, Depression-era Alabama. As Cavers suggests, even well-intentioned New Deal programs such as the Works Progress Administration (WPA) did relatively little to alter the bitter truths of many black sharecroppers’ lives.



We lived out in Autauga County [Alabama]. [My parents] were farmers. We had three rooms. There were nine of us. Our house was partly built with slabs. I don’t know whether you know what a slab is. That’s the outside of a log wood. [We were] just dusty farmers, and we lived on a plantation where, when the crops matured, we’d take the grain or cotton up to the boss’s house. So many times I can remember that he’d sell the cotton and give us the cotton seeds. Back then everything was cheap. One of my ambitions, the biggest one, was to go to college. See, we didn’t have no public schools back then. I attended school three months in a year. Then that’s all we got until the next year. The white [children] would be going to school up  to May or June. But we only had our school open in November and it closed in March or the last of February.

[One day] we were picking velvet beans. It was the kind of bean that would eat you up, scratch and sting you. I told my boss that I wanted to go to school. He asked me where I wanted to go. I told him Tuskegee. He turned around and hit me in the mouth and told me George Washington Carver should have been killed a long time ago.

I used to work for the gentleman [whose] place we stayed at. He asked me to turn a big log, and I couldn’t turn it, and I walked off and came home. I told [my mother] what happened. She said, “Well, you better move on somewhere else and not let them find you here tonight.” Sure enough they came. Just because I said I couldn’t turn the log. Part of it did dawn on me before I left, that I wasn’t a man, and I wasn’t respected [by] the other race. I soon found that out. The whites, we lived on their place. We’d go possum hunting together, all that sort of thing. They never would bother you if they had a gripe against you until that night. Your best friend in the white race would come for you at night. They’d laugh and smile and everything until that night. You couldn’t trust them. Then night come and they come for you and give you a good thrashing. Who were you going to complain to about it? Nobody. You just got a good whipping.

[In Alabama] I used to work on the WPA. I couldn’t get nothing to eat. There wasn’t no jobs. When [you] worked for the WPA, you saw no money. They gave you a slip, a little piece of blue paper and you could take it up there where you buy your coal; they specify how much coal to give you. Then you got your meal. They put it in there and you put it in a croaker sack and throw it over your shoulder and come on home. We cleaned out ditches. You didn’t get no money. You only got food. I was scheduled to work two days a week. That’s all I could work. Say if you go in on Monday, you’d work Monday and Tuesday. Tuesday [at] three o’clock the truck would bring you back by the canteen. No, before we went to the canteen, they came around to all the employees and give them a green slip. That was to buy coal, food, and then they would give you a supplement which was dried beans, hog jaws, hog head, butter, meal, and I think it was five pounds of flour, five pounds of loose sugar. It depended on how many you had in the family.

I worked for 10 cents an hour in Alabama. If I was picking cotton—I never was a good picker—I would get 50 cents for that day’s work. On a Sunday when they got ready to go, [my sisters] would wrap their hair in plaits out of a cotton stocking. My shoes, brogans, I’d take lard and soot and  make up the shoe polish. A car was out of the question. I had worked all year and didn’t get anything, didn’t have anything, and I couldn’t see where I was getting no more. So a gentleman came down. I saw him coming down across the field on his horse. He said to me, “Walter, let the mules cool off a little bit.” I said, “Okay.” I let them cool off and I got to thinking while I was out there and I just kept walking. Just kept walking. They looked for me and I was gone. What prompted me to leave there, it was spring and we were breaking land. I didn’t even get a pair of shoes for the winter. I didn’t get nothing. [The landlord] gave us an acre. My brothers and sisters, we worked hard on it and [made] a bale and a half of cotton. He took the cotton and gave us the seed. It wasn’t nothing my father could do about it. So that was in the back of my mind. I said, “Well, I’m going to leave here. Don’t know where I’m going, but I’m going to leave here.” I had nothing to look forward to. He had taken everything I’d made. So I’m going to go through another year and come up with the same thing, not even shoes. Uh uh, [I] couldn’t do that. So I just wandered off.

 



Howard University students picket the National Crime Conference in December 1934, where they protested the refusal of conference leaders to discuss lynching as a national crime. (American History Slide Collection, National Museum of American History, Smithsonian Institution)
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I didn’t go back there no more. That was back in the thirties. I just had to get out from down there and I walked until I got to Calera. Then from Calera I went on to Saginaw, and I’d go around to the back door of some  white residence and ask for some food. They’d always hand me something. I kept on trying to make it. Finally, I managed to reach Anniston, Alabama. That’s where I got the train to come here. I remember, shortly after I was here [in Charlotte], sleeping outdoors for three or four nights in February. I took pneumonia and fell uptown on [the] street. Some people came by, and I told them I was sick, and they took me to a widow lady’s house on Palmer’s Street. That’s where I stayed until I felt better and recuperated. They told the lady to take care of me, some of the church members from one of the large churches here. So she did. From there I managed to get a better place to stay.

I remember in my traveling: I was very tired. I’d been walking all day and it was hot. I decided to go out and lay down beside the road. I went off, I reckon about 15 feet. It was dark, and [I] laid down and went to sleep. I was awakened by a wagon. That was about one or two o’clock. It was a twohorse wagon. Whoever was driving it had a lantern, a light down in the bottom. So I said, “Guess, you’re somebody going to town.” So I went to sleep. I woke up a little after daylight. I didn’t think of it no more. So then I noticed where I went to sleep. There wasn’t no way in the world that a wagon or mule could come up through that cemetery because brush was all in the old slavery-time road. There were no tracks of no kind, no nothing. I said, “Let me get out of here. I laid down in the wrong place.” I don’t know what that was. I don’t believe in ghosts, but people say there are ghosts. I’ve never been able to figure that out.

So I went on to Saginaw, later made my way to Anniston and the train. [It was a] steam engine, and they had what you called the mail car. I got between there and stood there until we got in Atlanta. When I got in Atlanta, the sheriff discovered me. I mean the conductor or somebody discovered I was on there. I ran through the yard, and finally they turned around and left. I was talking with a colored person who worked there in the yard, and he said Number 67 and 66 were going to pull out at 6:15. He said, “Now they’ve got to stop up here to get water.” See, you pull that thing down and water the train. He said, “If you get in it, I’ll show you where to stand.” So I went with him up there. After awhile, two locomotives came up with a string of cars. He pulled that thing down and put the water in there, and after he put it up, everybody went back in the train, [and] I climbed up between the mail car and the engine. That’s where I stood all night long. So when I got in Charlotte somebody said to the conductor, “We got company back there.” He came around there looking for me, and I went out on the right side and jumped off and went up Trade  Street and then turned and went to Swatts Junkyard. Went over in there where they couldn’t find me, and I stayed over there until the train left. Then I said, “Let me go and see if I can find something to eat and a place to stay.” I never did that day, never did. So I slept at Martin’s Shop up here on Statesville Avenue that night. The next night I didn’t find anything. I was walking with no money and nowhere to live, and I was just sick. Those two Christian gentlemen, [Bailey Young and Dr. Moore, found me]. It was all I could do to make it to [Miss] Butler’s. They put me to bed, and I had pneumonia. [Miss Butler] put tar, what they get out of pine, and covered my chest with that tar. I don’t know what was in that stuff, but anyway, it made me well. I didn’t have no doctor.

The gentlemen told her they would pay her. I had nothing to pay her with. She was an elderly lady, and she liked the home remedies. She used one of her home remedies. The next morning, I believe it was on a Friday, the Sunday school department [of] First Baptist Church, that I am now a member of, sent me thirteen dollars. The pastor there saw to it that I got food. I didn’t know nobody, and I’ve been here ever since. Up and down. I just didn’t know all of this could happen to a person in their lifetime.

I have had an uphill battle. I’ve been in jail. I’ve been accused of things I wasn’t guilty of. But I got by. I got by. I had to go to jail for something I did not do. I spent a year in jail. A gentleman ran into me, a white gentleman, and they condemned me of driving too big a car. They didn’t like that I had a new Lincoln. They couldn’t give me a [proper] lawyer because you couldn’t get a lawyer in [York, South Carolina]. The lawyer that I did get was a neighbor of the deceased. They played chess together. So I went to jail for that. I had a lot of aid. I had people from all over the country helping, trying to declare me [the victim] of a false charge. But it didn’t do any good.

I saw a car coming. I was going south. When I got to the intersection where the light was green, I was sure the car meeting me would stop. He didn’t. He tried to cross in front of me, and I hit his right fender. He was 84 years old, and he passed away. They say he had a heart attack. I don’t know about that. But it wasn’t any damage [to the car]. You couldn’t hardly tell it was hit. I heard my attorney say, “Blow that picture up and make it as bad as you can.” [And] I’m paying him! The [old man] was the one made the turn. He wasn’t supposed to make a left-hand turn with ongoing traffic against the light, but he did it. Now it would have been something if I had hit him in the side or back, but it was on his left fender and I had to spend a year [in jail] for that.

A gentleman 10 miles from where the accident occurred said he heard my car speeding at 75 miles an hour. I had a lot of support because nobody didn’t believe it. I still keep the brief. Everybody wanted to read it. But it was just a shame. I got no justice. If I had not admitted that I was a member of the NAACP, it probably wouldn’t have been so hard. But you know how most people feel about the NAACP If it had been here, tried in [North Carolina], I don’t believe I would have got anything. The gentleman was 84 years old and blind, but he was white. So it cost me my freedom for some time. I had to stay away from my home for more than five years.

I was in jail only 12 months. The judge gave me probation, and they wanted me to come to South Carolina to live. You see, if you are on probation, unless you can get the probation officer in [another] state or county to supervise you [you cannot leave the state], and I wasn’t lucky enough to do that. Finally, a gentleman in New York, a minister, gave me a job [and] then I got out. But I thought it was wrong [for them] to railroad me. It wouldn’t happen this time of day, but it did happen back then. That was back in 1958, in York, South Carolina.

After [we moved back to Charlotte], we had a lot of threats, but they never identified themselves. We’d been here about a week. We had stayed in New York for most of the time. I remember one night shortly after we came back somebody called here and called me an SOB and said, “You’re not going to live here and you’d better get out of town.” So I hung up the telephone because I didn’t think much of it. I thought it was just somebody playing a prank. In a few minutes the hospital called and said my wife was receiving the same threats. So then they brought her home and kind of looked out, patrolled this area. Nothing ever did happen about it. They thought I had hit that gentleman. It was just some white gentleman would call. If I had known who [was threatening us], I would have had them arrested, but I didn’t know who did it. Every afternoon we’d see cars parked. The lady on the corner called me and asked why this gentleman was up there, coming in to park every evening. So I called the police. The police came out and didn’t find anybody. Possibly whoever it was had a [police] scanner. For years after I got back here, I had it pretty rough. I still held on. I got a church soon after, and I didn’t have to apply for no job. I stayed there until the end of my probation.

I had a gentleman call me up, the richest person we have here in Charlotte. I knew him very well. I came home for dinner and while I was at dinner the phone rang. I answered it. He told me who he was. “Was that your car you were driving this morning?” I said, “Yes.” He said, “Sell it. I  don’t want to see it on the street no more.” That was before I had the accident. That was way back in the fifties. Then he called me again [after the accident] and said, “I could help you but I’m not. I told you to sell that damn car.” So I said, “Well, whatever a person wants to drive, if they’ve got the money, [they] can drive it.” Alonzo Mackey, a friend of mine, had to go to Pennsylvania and get a car. It was the biggest Chrysler they were making back then. They wouldn’t sell him one here. I got [my Lincoln] through a person in another state. When I built this house, wouldn’t a bank in town loan me one dime. I had to build it from scratch.

I got in trouble because I reached for something too big and it wasn’t time for me to get it. I’ve had [church] members say that you can’t, you don’t drive a car [unless it] was just a secondhand car. When I first got one of those cars, I was living in Fairview Homes [public housing]. The supervisor over there told me she wanted my car. I told her, “No.” I wasn’t going to trade my new car to her. She wanted to swap. Because I didn’t do it, I got outdoors. They told me to move. They told me [I had] a certain length of time. I said, “What are you doing?” I said, “I have a wife and a baby, and I can’t move.” So it hasn’t been an easy road. A few bumps.

WILLIE HARRELL

Leaving Mississippi for Memphis, Tennessee seems to have been the central fact in Willie Harrell’s life. Harrell was born in 1927 and grew up sharecropping on a plantation owned by two brothers—two “old white honkies” whose cowboy hats defined them as much in his mind as their brutality to the men and women who worked for them. As a young man, Harrell decided to leave. He could not pay off his debts as his grandparents had done a short time before, but he managed to save enough money for a train ticket and began to watch for an opportunity to steal away.

Harrell offers suggestive glimpses of a mid-twentieth-century plantation life that was only a hairbreadth removed from nineteenth-century slavery. Adhering to racial “etiquette,” whites denied blacks the courtesy titles of “Mr.” and “Mrs. ” and forced them to enter white homes through the back door. They employed corporal punishment freely and kept their tenants’ chil dren out of school to work in the fields. And, just as slaveholders handed out rations, Harrell’s landlords controlled “furnishing,” the practice of providing clothing and other supplies to farmers on credit in anticipation of the harvest. Although they sometimes took tenants to town to buy supplies,  Harrell’s landlords more often drove a busload of groceries and other items from house to house, encouraging their workers to buy from them on credit and go ever further into debt.

Harrell’s recollections of sharecropping are followed by an escape narrative reminiscent of runaway slaves’ struggles to gain their freedom a century earlier. But then, as Harrell explained, it was “just like old slavery time” for him as a young man. “That’s the way it was when I come up in the country. ”



Everything you had to do was outside of the door. It wasn’t inside the house, like a bathroom. We had to take a bath in a bathtub in front of the fireplace. They didn’t have it like it is [now], when I was coming up. Uh uh. It was in the country. Didn’t nothing have it but the white people. Colored didn’t have nothing like that.

You couldn’t go in a front door down there. You had to go in the back. During that time, if you was allowed to go into white folks’ house, you had to go around to the back. They used to feed you outside of the door. Outdoors. You wasn’t allowed to go in there.

Didn’t nobody have a car but white folks. Them big white people [who] own[ed] them plantations. Naw, we colored didn’t know what a car was. Didn’t know nothing but mules and tractors. That’s all we knowed about. All we ever did [was] farmed. Cotton and corn and everything you could name, we raised it. That’s all [we] ever knowed was to do it. Cotton and corn. Beans. Peas. Peanuts and potatoes and everything. They give us so much [farmland] a year, and if we cleared anything, like on the sale of cotton, they would give it. If we didn’t, we had to go over another year if we was going to stay on that plantation, but if we were going to move on another plantation, well, that boss man come to pay for what we owe and move us on their plantation. That’s the way they did. If you didn’t want to stay with them, if you owed them some, this honkie would come over here and buy you from this man, and you go and live with him and work the crop there a year. Sometimes I get to thinking about that, and then when the Roots come on [television], that time when they have it on, I cut it off. I couldn’t stand to look at it, because I went through some of it. I just flipped it off because it put me in a memory of what I used to go through when I was coming up. I couldn’t stand to see it.

They used to come to our house down them dirt roads in the country once a month. That’s when we’d get our groceries. They hauled it on a school bus. Wasn’t no stores like it is now They brings it to your house,  see, and they allow you so much a month. You get it off of that bus. That’s just like a grocery store. You couldn’t go to no grocery store. They didn’t have that many in town. Your food come out on a bus like that. You couldn’t get but one pair of shoes a year off of the bus. You wore boots along there, [and] them overalls. My granddaddy wore a pair of boots until he couldn’t get a string in them, but he tore them and just kept putting strings in them, you know, to walk on. Couldn’t get no shoes or nothing like that till the end of the year.

 



Colored drinking fountain, county courthouse lawn, Halifax County, North Carolina, April 1938. (Photograph by John Vachon, Library of Congress, Prints and Photographs Division FSA-OWI Collection)
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You could [also] go to town, and shop there at them stores, and then, like you staying on a plantation, the white people loads coloreds up on the back of their pickup and take them to town and let them buy what they wanted, and they pay for it. Overalls and jumpers and shoes, like that, they would pay for it. They wouldn’t give you the money to go and shop. They’d take you to shop. They would furnish you that for the year.

They always called me “Son” or “Harrell.” That’s all they ever knowed of my name. That’s all they ever called me. [They] called [the older people] “Whitman” or something like that or “Uncle.” Them old white folks call[ed] the older people “Uncle” or “Auntie.” Wasn’t nothing [older blacks] could do [about it]. They had to [just] feel good over it, because there’s nothing they could do about it, but take it. That’s right. That’s all.

We couldn’t go to no school. You take me. I didn’t go to school but once or twice out of the year. That’s right. I was in the first grade. I can’t read and write now, because I didn’t have the chance to go to school like children got now. Back there then, there wasn’t no school like it is now You had to walk seven or eight miles to the school. When it rained and you couldn’t do nothing in the field or you couldn’t do no other kind of work, that’s when you had a chance to go to school, but as soon as the sun comes out and dry off, you in the field. [I] never did have no chance to go to no school in them days. You always doing something, cutting wood or [cutting] cross ties or [working in a] sawmill or doing something, [even] in the winter. I bet you I didn’t go two days out of a month or a year or something to school.

Like Fourth of July we might go to a picnic; [the white plantation owners would] allow them to have, a big picnic out in the woods. That’s once a year. That’s all we would go. That’s the only where to go. When they laid by the crops in July, you got something else still to do. You still working. You don’t never have no [time] off. When they lay the crop by in July, you still cutting wood or doing something, the whole year.

 

 

Shit, you couldn’t even look at a white woman hard back then when I come up. You would get hung. Yeah. Sure would. Back then was just all slavery times. Fasten you up and whip you just like you a dog or mule, animal or something. Yeah, they would tie you up or hem you up in a barn or something. [It would] be brothers on the plantation, two or three brothers, old white honkies, you know, wear them old hats. You see them old hats they got on, look like old Texas hats. Old honkies, I call them. Might beat you to death. [You] couldn’t try to fight back then in them days. They would kill you. There wouldn’t be nothing did about it. Yeah. Back then you couldn’t fight back.

Blacks couldn’t look at no white. But whites could look at blacks all they wanted. Ain’t going to be nothing did about it. Yes sir, that happened right down there where I used to live on the plantation in the country.

If they’d catch you trying to leave, they’d take you back there and whip you, fasten you up in the barn and whip you. It’s just like old slavery time. They hemmed me up in the barn like [where] they feed mules, and they whipped me. It was two brothers. Two old white honkies. There wasn’t nothing I could do. They had a whip. Shit yeah, they whipped me. Sure. Wasn’t nothing you could do, but take it. You try to resist [and] they would kill you.

[It was] just like I’m in prison or something. [They were] watching you. [You] couldn’t go nowhere, had to stay there and get them cows and mules up and feed them. Five hundred and some cows and mules every day out of the week. You didn’t have a chance to go nowhere. You couldn’t go and visit nobody, your friends or nothing. You had to stay right there. I got tired. I made up my mind to get on away from there and I got away. That’s what I did. [I] couldn’t handle it no more. [If] I’d a stayed on there, [I’d have] probably been dead by now.

When I got here [to Memphis], I had to go out there to Gaston Hospital. They like to killed me down there. I had to slip off at night. When I left Mississippi, I left at night when they was in the bed asleep, around two and three o’clock at night. I got by their house. On a plantation, you can tell when they go to sleep, because the lights go out. When they put them lights out, you know they gone to bed then.

They had a gate. If you cross[ed] there in a car, [the noise] could wake [them] up, just like you crossing an old bridge. But see, I didn’t have no car. I just stepped across there. They had the fences up, and the stuff on there would electrocute you, but see, I was smart enough [that] I got across there and hit that dirt road and got in the woods. I bet you I walked about five or six miles in the woods. Onliest way I could see [was] these little lightning bugs at night [that] light up. That’s the onliest way I could see at night, and [my] clothes was tore off where I was going through the woods and trees and couldn’t see, [and] it was tearing my clothes off until I got from there where I could catch this train. Man, I was as raggedy as a pan of kraut when I got here in them. [I] didn’t have nothing but what I had [on], and they was tore all off. Old pair of shoes. Bare, with no socks or nothing on.

I left there around about two or three o’clock that night and caught the train and come into Memphis. Shit, I laid across the railroad track. Train woke me up, hitting the rail. The train was about six or seven miles [away], and they hit that rail and was blowing. It woke me up. I woked up and got up to see, and I just stepped back and took that handkerchief and did three flags like that, and they blowed and flashed that light twice. When they  pulled on up beside me, the man, the conductor, whatever you call him, he let the gate down and I walked on in there and come on to Memphis. I had a ticket. I had worked until I made enough money.

I was by myself, because my granddaddy and grandma had done left from there. They left from there and come to Drew, and I was in the hills. See, when they settled up at the end of the year, they paid off, but I just stayed on. I was going to stay on till another year, but they got so bad I had to leave there. I had to run away from there.

I was scared until I got here, and it took me about—shit, it was a year or two before I got back like I should [be], normal. I didn’t know nothing about Memphis then, and my auntie was taking me around trying to find a job when I come here. She was up here way before I left from Mississippi. She was working down[town], and I come here, and she was taking me before she [would] go to work [to] try to find a job. That’s when I found a job working at Crosstown Storage. That was moving people, furnish[ing]s and stuff.

When I got a little older, I felt [I had become] a man from my boyhood. When I got to where I could manage and take care of myself. That’s [after] I got here, but it took me about a couple of years before I could get myself together to see, realize, [that] I was a man instead of a boy. When I was down there [in Mississippi], it was just like the penitentiary or something. [I] couldn’t go nowhere. Certain time to go somewhere. Certain time to come in. [I] didn’t have the freedom as I got now.

I ain’t been back there but once since I left from there and I’m 68 years old. I went down there [last year] because my sister was sick. I was scared then. I spent the night. I didn’t sleep the whole night I was down there because I was scared. It was still in me. See? [I was in the] same place I was when they did all that they did to me, you know. But they all dead now. All them people’s dead. Shoot, I didn’t even know the town, it’d been so long since I had been down there.

I left by myself. I left some of my people down there. But self and God for us all; I was looking out for myself. They had to take care of their self. There’s plenty of them [who] left and [live] right here in Memphis since I left from around there. Only thing, my sister [is] still down there, and you couldn’t get a bulldozer to push her away from down there. She likes that. She worked for them [same] people, I don’t know how long. Now she works in the hospital down there, and she got her own house now. She married and have a man. They got their own home, automobiles and everything. But shit, when I was coming up, there was no such thing. Colored  had no automobile and [were] buying no homes down there. Nothing but white. If she wanted to stay down there and take it, that was her business, but I couldn’t take no more of it. [I] got tired of it. I got to git, and I got, too.

I say the Lord has really been good to me, has blessed [me]. I’m telling you the truth. I’ve really been blessed by him. I was lucky they didn’t kill me when I come from Mississippi. They tried to, but I got away from down there. [If] I’d have stayed on down there, they would have killed me.

I been misused and everything. I think of that. Sometime it gets next to me. You know how it’ll come up, but the Lord blessed me. I’m blessed to be 68 years old for the time when I come up. I come up the hard way, mister. People got it made now. You see me sitting on this porch, but I have worked in my day. I’m telling you. I have worked in my day and that’s when I said God blessed me to retire. I’m going to sit here and serve him and enjoy.

ANN POINTER

Ann Pointer grew up during the Great Depression, the youngest of six children of tenant farmers in Macon County, Alabama. She recalls the many ways that her family, particularly her mother, struggled to improve their situation through ingenuity and an emphasis on education. She also describes community life, suggesting that neighbors came together to face the hardships of the 1930s, then grew apart as they experienced greater prosperity during and after World War II.



I went to Chehaw elementary. It was [a] two-room school. One teacher taught one through three, the other taught four through six, and we could not go to school until October. It would have to be after Columbus Day. And you know why? Because Mr. Childer’s cotton had to be picked and gathered before the black children went to school. We started the school in the middle of October. Well, you know, we were the janitors, the maids. The first two weeks of school we had to clean the school, clean around the school, and get the school in shape. So we really didn’t start our classes up until November. We went to school November, December, January, February, March, April, and the first of May school closed. That’s all of the school that we got. My mother said they only went three or four months. I started school in 1934, and I was the youngest in my family. I had four  brothers and one sister, and they were all older than me. Well, see, they started school back then, but they went less months than I did.

The house we were living in only had two rooms. One room and a kitchen. They were big rooms, and you did everything you wanted to do in those two rooms. Mama had six children, and her and papa made eight. There was no walls in this house. It was just the boards on the outside, you see what I’m talking about? There was no ceiling. You could look up and see the tin [roof], because it was just the joist and the tin through there. When it rained, it leaked. It was a stacked chimney, [where] the fireplace was in both rooms. You had a flue, where you could put your stove flue through that chimney. Then you had a fireplace in this kitchen also. The way mama had her house fixed: the big bedroom was a great big room. She had [a] bed here and a bed there and a small bed here. She had a dresser and a table and chairs, and I can remember a rocking chair she had in that room. She had one or two beds in the kitchen, over against the wall. Over in one section of this kitchen was her kitchen, she had a stove, her table and safe. They called it a safe, but she kept her dishes in there, and down in the bottom was some of her groceries. Just one part of the kitchen was for kitchen use, and she had wooden barrels where she kept her flour. They bought flour by the hundred pounds, and cornmeal. She had big barrels with tops on them where she kept this cornmeal. We didn’t have a refrigerator or nothing like that. We didn’t have a well in the yard. We had to go to a spring for water. [The landlord] would not dig a well. He did not make it pleasant for his tenants. You lived in that house, and mama would take cardboard and put up where the wind was blowing in, because when you [were] laying in the bed in the wintertime, the air would be blowing up the sheets on the bed.

And the floor, there were cracks in the boards. Mama stop [ped] up them cracks as best she could with what she had to keep [out] anything that wanted to come in there, any small animal, a possum or anything else. Mama would always [fill] the cracks and try to bolt up the doors. In the wintertime, she would take the ironing board and put it down to the foot of the bed and tuck the covers down to keep the wind from blowing the covers up to keep you cold in the bed.

And in the wintertime, you couldn’t open the window. You’d be sitting to an open fireplace like this, and they’d have the door wide open. Everybody would be sitting near the fireplace here, and you sit as close as you could, and your legs in front would be [blistered] from being burnt from sitting too close to that fire. And couldn’t nobody laugh at your legs  because theirs was burnt up too. [Laughter.] It [the heat-damaged skin?] would soon come off. They would take tallow and rub your legs and get it off. But that’s the way you had to live, and, taking a bath, there was not much privacy. [In] the summertime, my brother would bathe in the barn. Mama would heat water in a wash pot. My mother was very strict about baths.

[Mama] was a very proud woman, and she was small in stature, and [had a] nice figure and everything. Even after having those children, she had a beautiful figure. When she would dress up and go downtown [to Tuskegee], she’d buy a big jar of blue-seal Vaseline [and] Octagon soap. Do you know what Octagon soap is? It’s like a lye soap. It’s made out of red devil lye. They sell it now in the store, and I use it extensively myself because if you had a rash or insect bites or anything on you, [mama] would lather you with that Octagon soap real good, and it would really take care of insect bites or any rash, anything that you had, and chiggers and all that. This was [mama’s] cosmetics. Nowadays people got a dresser full of everything. She’d buy that Octagon soap. She washed her clothes with it, she washed her dishes with it, you bathed with it, and she bought that blue-seal Vaseline and one can of Cashmere Bouquet talcum powder. That was her cosmetics. It lasted indefinitely.

This was in the thirties, and I didn’t have a dress, and mama had to go into her trunk and get a sheet she could sew, and [she] cut a white sheet and made me a little sundress. When she made it, she washed it out and made starch out of plain flour boiling on the stove and ironed [it. She] made me a little dress for me, and then made me some panties out of the same material. [I] went to town barefoot as a yard dog. I was a little girl, but I enjoyed it. She would sit up and make her boys’ clothes. We didn’t have clothes to wear, really and truly.

[My mother] had brothers that was living in New York. They had never seen me and my brother, because they were away from here before we were born, but they [did] know mama had us. They’d go around and get used clothing by the trunkful. I got one of the trunks up under the house right there. They would get clothes of all description and send them here, and mama would renovate those clothes, and my mother was so scornful she would take the armpits of those clothes, cut the armpits out and make them over. I realize now why she did it. The only coat I had until 1940 was the coats that came from up there, because there was no way for [my family] to buy nothing. Wasn’t no money. [People] were making 50 cents a day, if they worked for a wage hand. You worked as a wage hand,  and that mean[t] you worked your little farm and when you caught up with yours, somebody would hire you who had the money, to work for 50 cents. And now don’t think you worked eight hours. You went out there at six o’clock in the morning, and you worked until you couldn’t see in the evening for that 50 cents. Picking cotton, chopping cotton, pulling corn, pulling fodder, or whatever they had for you to do. You worked as a wage hand for 40 and 50 cents a day. And you know just what kind of living that was. My mother would iron white shirts for those doctors at the veterans’ hospital. I have seen her iron 35 white shirts in one day, and they were only paying her five and ten cents a shirt. But any kind of money beat no money at all. That’s what was going on, and everybody was bootlegging, just about, who could.

My mother was a strong person too. I couldn’t have stood what she stood. I don’t believe I could have stood it. I would’ve left, and her brothers tried to get her to come north and bring us out of this hectic situation. But mama didn’t want to go. She said, “I couldn’t control my children in the North.” Mama wanted us to go to school, she wanted us to be good, and she thought the North would swallow us up. Maybe it would have, you know. I can’t tell. But I wanted to go anywhere, but here. I had a nervous breakdown at school. I had a slight heart attack. The teacher didn’t know it, either, because we didn’t talk about nothing. I couldn’t hear, I couldn’t talk, but I could see. I was just sitting and staring, and when I sit there so long, when my hearing came back to me, it looked like the children were way off. I could hear them talking. But I’m going to tell you, if you [are] a child, and you get up in the morning time, and there is no food in the house—no kind of food nowhere, I mean nothing, just the cupboard is bare—and you’ve got to get up and go on to school and act like nothing’s happened, [and] you cannot say a word or let anybody know that you haven’t had anything to eat, and [you] didn’t know when you were ever going to get anything else, that is a horrible experience for a small child. A child seven or eight years old and you don’t have food to give them, that child carries a heavy burden. My mother was proud. We could not tell people that we didn’t have anything. You had to act like you didn’t want anything, just go on. You just could not say nothing.

But I tell you what, even though we were poor as church mice, God still blessed us with a brain. Other children had fine clothes, they had fine homes, they had fathers and mothers who had money, but they were dumb as the devil. God blessed us all with a good brain, therefore the teachers had to take notice because [laughter] everybody excelled. God knows what to do  for you. My sister was an excellent mathematician. My brothers were all smart, they had gifts, talents. I don’t care how poor you are or how bad you look, if you know and nobody else don’t know, that’s going to make you out to be out front. That’s what kept us out front. I may not be able to repeat this ever again, but I hope you are taking notice of this. That’s the only thing that we were able to do, is stay out front at school and at church and everywhere else because of our abilities. All six children had abilities other children couldn’t touch. My brothers were great athletes. They were very good in sports. That kept them out front, and [they were] smart in books as well. So the teachers all took a shine because we didn’t have nothing, you know. People used to look down on you when you didn’t have nothing, you were just a nobody. But if you had a brain, you still was out there. That’s what kept us out front. And mama being the type person she was, she didn’t drop her head even though she didn’t have nothing. She worked hard, working in people’s houses. Seven days a week she had to get there and cook breakfast for them, wash all the clothes, iron all the clothes, clean up the house, and everything for four dollars a week, seven days a week.

I worked at that hospital for $100 a month, $25 a week, but I made it out of there. You see, wages was low, but I told my mother—and I’m glad I got a chance to tell her before she died—I said, “Mama, I went to many extremes working here and working there, but I finally made my living, retired off of what you gave to me.” My mother gave me a business course when I was going to high school. I said, “I made my living and retired off of what you gave me.” That made her feel proud. So we had a very, very hard life, but we weren’t the only ones. There were people that was worse off than we were.

It was a farming community, and most everybody was planting. Cotton was your chief money source. If [they] didn’t have but one acre of cotton, most people [still] had their little cotton. They did that to buy their winter shoes and clothes for the children. Everybody had their little flower yard, they had their garden, they had their cows, chickens, and hogs. Everybody was living good. Well, really and truly, in the thirties, it was a kind of a rough go. Everybody was having a tough [time] after that Depression and the banks closed on the people’s little money. My grandmother had a little money in the bank when the bank shut down. They didn’t give her nothing but a piece of property over in Tuskegee. I think it was a half an acre or something or other. But my grandmother, that was my mother’s mother, she raised turkeys and chickens and things, and she said, “I don’t want to live in town.” She was able to sell that little piece of property to somebody for $35,  and that’s all she got. My other aunt, my father’s sister, she started working at the veterans’ hospital when it first opened, in the laundry, and she saved up good money, and they took hers. The bank shut down, didn’t give them tootie-squootie. My brother often said that [the] times we went through would make a hog eat onion, make a monkey suck a lemon, and God knows that was the truth.

People were eating what they could get. You never heard about no mud in the water, have you? My father would go and stop off a place, and they would get in the water and roll the[ir] pants legs up. We’d go down there and stand with bags, and they’d dig the bottom, and muddy that hole, and when the water get muddy, the fish come to the top. More fish come to the top, you see. Then they put the cocoa bags down and scoop them fish up, and they’d muddy the water every year like that and get the fish. Everybody would come and get them a big bucket of fish, all kinds, but my mother never appealed all that. She’d say, “Don’t come near the house with them.” We’d have to cook them outdoors because she didn’t allow them to bring just anything in her house. And my father would hunt. He was a great sportsman and would go hunting. They’d kill rabbits, squirrels, possums, birds and anything they could find in the woods to kill, small animals. They cooked it and we ate it. That’s why I don’t like wild game right now, because I say I’ve had too much rabbit, squirrel, possum, and everything that crept or crawled. My father killed it and brought it there, and mama cooked it. He had plenty [of] chickens, and he’d do breeding [of] these fighting roosters. You ever heard of fighting roosters? He raised them game roosters and things, people’d come there for that.

When World War II came along, people was loving in the community. All in the thirties through all of this trouble, from wall to wall, everybody had [been neighborly]. If you had sickness, it was everybody’s sickness, and they could ring that church bell down here [in Chehaw] . It was a bell in that church, and they had a sexton. [People] could listen because there wasn’t no cars and things running like there are now. I could listen and hear that bell ring and tell you what was the matter. They had a [certain] way to ring it. My grandmother and I were right across up here in a cotton field one day, and she heard the bell, and she say, “You know, [there] is something the matter. Somebody [is] mighty sick down there in Chehaw.” She said, “Baby, I’m going to the house, and let’s go and see [why] the bell ring.” She said, “Put a fire in the stove and heat some water where we can bathe off and go down there.” Before we could get to the house, a guy named Sam Kelly came across there. See, they’d get somebody and run them through and tell the  news. Wasn’t no telephone or anything. [Sam Kelly] said, “Miss Clare, Miss Bees just died a while ago. She stuck a nail on her foot and [it] give her lockjaw.” [My grandmother] said, “Well, I heard the bell. We should come right on and down there.” If you got sick, they’d come and sit at your house all night long and help you, wait on you and everything. All of that was loving. You’d walk miles. I would be so sleepy, and mama would stay up with those people and help, take a fan and fan them [because] they’d be so sick. We’d sit down on the floor, and we’d spend the night with them, and everybody did like that.

But when World War II came, the people became indifferent. They began to drift apart, and you know what did it? They were hanging on [to] a little more money. When they didn’t have nothing, there was a lot of love existed. But [then] they began to get a little more money, and they went up a little bit on the wages, and they were building these airports and places like that, and men that was making 50 and 75 cents went up to $4 [or] $5 a day. And the people began to become indifferent and get apart. They stopped going to church as much, and they start[ed] their waywardness. I noticed a great change [in] every child, what they began to do. They could get clothes. They had food, and something they weren’t used to.

You can’t appreciate the sunshine if you ain’t never been in the rain. Every time I go in the house, if I go in the bathroom, I [say], “Lord, I thank you,” because there are many times I’ve had to go I-don’t-know-where to the bathroom. When I light my heaters, I say, “Thank you Jesus,” because I had to cut wood and saw down trees like a man, you understand me? [After] toting water to fill up the buckets and things for bathing [and] washing clothes, I consider thanking Jesus for everything. When I get in that car, I say, “Thank you Jesus,” because I used to have to walk to town. Now I can drive, ride.

It was so many things happening back then, when these white people [would] get mad with someone on their farm and kill them and throw them in the creek. When the rain [fell] back here last month [laughter], a party of us [was] sitting out there on the porch, and I said, “Somebody must be in the creek, because God knows in heaven when it used to rain like that, it would rain until it would wash them out.” I know one incident [where] they killed a man and threw him in [the] creek down there, and the water washed him up. They said the sheriff killed him. I ain’t never found out why, but it was so many things happening around here. It isn’t a lynching, just a killing. Now, Walter Gunn, I knew him. Walter Gunn, that was his name. He was messing with some woman, they say. I don’t know because I was a girl, but  that was in the forties, and they had a deputy here named Fawcett. They said Fawcett was messing with the same woman or something, but Walter Gunn was caught in this man’s house, [or] this woman’s house, or something. Fawcett [went there and] ran [along] the road outside the house and blowed [Walter Gunn’s] brains out right in his own yard. Ain’t nothing been done about it. I often think about it.

And do you know, just like you and I sitting here right now, that was a time [when] we [might have] had a sheriff come and knock on the door [knocks]. I might have said, “Who is it?” “The law.” Well, you go to the door to see, and he [would] just bust on past you and come on in there and tumble your house up from here to hell, you understand me? Wasn’t nothing, no search warrant or nothing. Anything he felt like doing, he just walk in on you and tumble your house up, and don’t tell you why or how.

It was a family lived right down the street there. They had a bunch of children, maybe eight or ten, and they were sharecropping with the man at Notasulga. They could not settle up. The crops didn’t do well, and so [the landowner] was going to take their possessions. They owned that little house they were in, but they knew that he was going to take it. They had a son that was grown, and at the time, he was in prison, but he broke out [when] he heard about the situation, because they had a lot of tiny tots over there. I don’t know where he got a car from, but he got a car and he got word to his mother to sell somebody their little lot and to get ready [because] he was going to come through. [They had] to be ready because he had to pick them up because they were after him. [His family] did just like he told them, secretly. We didn’t know about it, living right here, [because] they were so quiet with it. Those people couldn’t read nor write, but they had good sense. They went to [a man] and told him they wanted to sell that little place they had [and] he bought it. They got ready, left everything there, except for the clothes they had and a little thing they were going to carry. [The son] came here [about] midnight, and they went to Boston, Massachusetts. That’s where they lived and that’s where they died, and some of the children are still up there now. They did much better to leave here, and that man [the landowner] didn’t know hell nor how they went because [the son] told them not to tell nobody where they were going, and they didn’t tell nobody. I went to Boston in 1972, and I called this lady on the phone, and we talked, you know, because she had never come back. Her husband came back through here once and came by to see my mother, and he told her how good it was for him in Boston, how he had found work, and he found health for the children. He was dressed real nice, and we had never seen him dressed  up. I remember the last thing he told my mother, he said, “If I don’t see you no more, we’ll meet over there.” He meant in the promised land, and we never saw him again. Those people went away. They got away from here because that man was going to take everything they had and no doubt come here shooting, but they sure fixed him. And that’s what you call one of those things because they were going to have a reprisal and a killing, too, if they hadn’t left here.

All of this took place in Macon County, but this was in the Notasulga area. This man would go and talk to people when they were getting ready to pitch a farm, where[ever he] saw a bunch of children and a husband and wife who was field hand[s]. He’d sit down and offer them a big proposition, “Come on and live in my place. I do this for you and I do that for you.” Make a lot of promises, and he went to [another] county and got a man and a wife and his children and moved them up there on his place. He was making a good crop because he had good wage hands. When the cotton was fixing to open, he went there and started a big mess with those people and ran them off away from there, where he wouldn’t have to settle up with them. Once this man get his crowd—they call it a mob crowd—and come to your house at night, then you going to leave there as fast as you can. Because you don’t know what’s going to be the next visit, whether there’d be a killing or not. He ran those people off, and they left. I don’t know where they went, whether they went up North or anything. They didn’t get nothing. Fixed a whole crop, didn’t get a dime.

You know what happened? My husband said he knew this man had been doing that for years, and people never knew how he could do it. He didn’t never have to pay nobody because he was running them off when he gathered his crops. [The man] came over and told [my husband] and his [first] wife, “Come on. The people slipped off from me, and they wouldn’t gather the crop, so I’m going to need somebody to gather and I [’ll] pay you so much a week.” [My husband] said he already knew what had happened. He went on and moved into the house and put his furniture and everything in there. [The man] had him cutting stove wood for his stove, keeping the yard up, and gathering the crop, and my husband’s [first] wife was cooking for them and washing and doing all that. So [my husband] told him, “Mr. Hatcher, you’re going to have to pay me by the week.” “All right, I don’t mind that.” He knew how it was, and said [that] every Friday he would come and pay him. He told him, “When you get through gathering those potatoes and things, I’m going to give you so many of them. I’m going to give you so much corn and so much of peanuts, and I’m going to give you  the remnant bale of cotton for gathering it.” [My husband] said he knew he wasn’t going to do it.

So, after he started gathering everything, this man start acting funny. When you [are] around a person, you can tell. [If] they come up and don’t speak, you know they got hell on them. [My husband] said he told his wife, “Now I tell you what I want you to do. You just get the baby and every time you go to your mother’s, carry some dishes and glasses and whatnot, and when you get through carrying the cook things out of here, I will get the mattresses and things by night and move them someplace.” He said that they moved by night, but he [and his wife] would go there every day just like they were living there and do the work [and] act like nothing weren’t happening. So, one day, his wife was over at her mother’s, and he went there. He was out there that morning when Hatcher got up. He was cutting wood, [and] then Hatcher got into it with him. “You did so and so and so and so and so and so, and I tell you right now I want you to move out of my house.” [My husband] said, “All right.” He dropped the axe and walked on away. Hatcher went and kicked the door open of the house. Snap! He had already moved. See, he had planned to do that. He fixed him and got on away from him. And those type things, child, that happened all of the time. All of the time.

 

 

Everywhere the [white] man has got, maybe from eight to fifteen tenants, on his place, there is a woman there that he is messing with. Then you going to see the flowers start to blooming, the children start to popping. A white woman told me one time—we were talking about a situation—she say, “What if your husband built a house right adjacent in the back of your house, and he slept with another woman and was having children by her right in your yard? What would you do?” I said, “I wouldn’t stay there. I would leave.” She said, “Well, I didn’t go anywhere because, when he asked for my hand in marriage, he asked my father could I be controlled. My father told him ‘Yes’ because my father was guilty of the same thing.” She said, “I stayed there and while this woman worked in the field, I had to tend to the children.” Now that happened right here in Macon County, and his wife had to take that. I told her, “I wouldn’t have taken that because I would’ve been gone, and I wouldn’t [have] went back to my father, neither. He wouldn’t know where I went. My husband get brazen enough to bring a woman in my house and he going to stay there and have children by her—uh—uh, it ain’t going to happen with me. I wouldn’t put up with it.” But a lot of these white  women have had to put up with it and helped raise the children. Now, I know what I’m talking about. They all have been pushed about like that because this man is going to do what he want to. You don’t know what he’s doing until the flowers start to blooming, that’s what they say. When you see these mixed-up children come out [snap] from there, you know that he’s stirring about. This woman that’s got these children, she’s going to dress better than anybody in the community, and she got money all the time, and her children [are] well taken care of. He does it undercover, but everybody know what’s going on. But they ain’t going to say nothing. They talk about it, but they can’t do nothing about it because the man own them. It’s like I say, what is slavery? Yes, they abolished the chains, they abolished this here, abolished that, but you still a slave—you understand me?—in so many words because that greenback dollar can make you a slave. When you don’t have anything and you trying to make it, you’re still a slave. Most people look down on that word, but they’ll find out that they are.

You don’t have to wonder about these flowers blooming. You can just look at the population and tell. Haven’t you paid attention to that? Different people mixed up. You don’t know what they are. They got some everything in them, and you can see that there’s been visitation by someone just [by] looking at the group, this bouquet. That’s what I’m saying. And the Klan [is] talking about they want a pure race. Now who mixed up this race, you understand me? The bouquets have been made now. In the classroom, if you look at a class of 32 children, you see some of everything. You know what I’m saying. It’s been like that all of the time, and it brought about a lot of dissension among the blacks as well as whites. If a black man’s got a wife, and she have a white baby, he on the man’s place [and] he can’t say nothing. You see what I’m talking about. Do you see the injustice in that? Even though he doesn’t like it. Now you know what he’s going to do? He’s going to mistreat his wife under the cover and give her a very, very bad time, and this child will be knocked about, which is wrong. Going back to the [white] man, he done stood it all up and he gone on about his business, left it like that.

My brother left early, left school. He said, “I’m going so I can get mama off of the man’s place.” And he came back and built the house right there so we wouldn’t have to stay on the man’s place. My brother paid for it to get us off. It’s always somebody in the family to get you off the man’s place, and if you ain’t got nobody to get you off the man’s place, you going to take his foolishness until you slip away from there. You ain’t got no money, [but if] you got a relative or friend, they would slip and send you the money. They  couldn’t send it to his mailbox, because see your mail came to the man’s box if you lived on his place, and they censored all your mail. So [your relative or friend had to] send the mail to the minister. See, the church played an important part in this. [Your relative or friend] would send that money to the minister and tell him what it was for, and that minister would [get it to you]. You couldn’t catch the train over here at Chehaw. You’d have to go where nobody would see you leave because they [white landowners] would try to stop you. They act like you were their own.

 



Lillian Hooten with her doll, Pensacola, Florida, early 1920s. Psychologist Kenneth Clark’s 1953 doll test asserted that many black children preferred white, not black, dolls. In Brown v. Board of Education, the NAACP cited this evidence in arguing that school segregation contributed to the psychological damage of African American children. (Photograph courtesy of Henry and Lillian Hooten, Tuskegee, Alabama)
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[One time] a man came here. He thought he was talking to a friend, but he was talking to a staunch enemy. He told me, “I ain’t got nobody to work. Those damn yo-yos went off up yonder and sent their money back  here and slipped all of them away from here.” That’s what he called them, “the yo-yos.” [Laughter.] I said, “Oh yeah?” I knew all about it, but I just pretend I didn’t. Shoot, “slipped them all away from here.” Once you get one relative or a good friend that go up north and make it pretty good [they could help you]. And then, if they tell [the people they are working for] what’s the trouble, they would give them the money, them people up north. [Laughter.] I was working up there and a lady said, “How come you going back to Macon County? You up here, you doing well.” I said, “Well now, look, I don’t live on the man’s place.” I said, “We live on our own place, and I’m going to school.” She said, “Well I thought the man owned all the places down there.” She really had never been south. She said, “I was just saying you ought to be glad to be away from down there.” I said, “Oh no, we own our own places. We don’t live on the man’s place.” They call him “the man,” you know.

I’m telling you the truth. It was real funny but, you know, one thing: if you got a child and the man want him to work, he go and tell the teacher that “this boy can’t come to school right now because he[‘s] working for me.” He’d go there and get him out of school and [laughter] make him go to the field. I’m telling you. It sound funny to you because you never have been subject to nothing like this, but that’s what I want to tell you: how horrible it is when, everything you do, the man’s got to approve it. Either you [are] his concubine or—many women, you know, fell prey to their [white men’s] sexual desires and all that kind of stuff. It’s still prevalent, but see they can’t do like they used to do. They can’t run over these women like they used to.

So, that’s the plight of the Jim Crow days. It was something.
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